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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT IN 2011
Finland
The operating environment for construction was stable during the first half of the 
year, but in the autumn economic uncertainty increased markedly. However, weakened 
consumer confidence did not impact in residential unit sales, which remained steady 
during the entire year. Low interest rates, insignificant growth of unemployment, and 
the population shift to growth centres have maintained demand for new housing.

After two consecutive years of decline, there was an upturn in the construction 
of business and commercial premises in 2011. The total annual volume of business 
premise construction still lagged behind the peak year of 2008 by approximate-
ly one fifth. Trading in real estate slowed down towards the end of the year, and the 
yield requirements for sites, particularly outside growth centres, were up slightly. A 
great number of construction projects were being planned. Finding tenants, howev-
er, proved to be challenging, and this slowed down project initiation. After the 2008 
recession, the annual number of start-ups in industrial construction has remained 
below the long term average.

The total volume of infrastructure construction decreased for the third year 
running. The government and municipalities have cut their allocations for basic road 
maintenance and road investments. The market for rock engineering was good. De-
mand was maintained particularly by underground rock excavation works in growth 
centres and mine investments in Northern Finland. New building construction pro-
jects kept the demand for geotechnical engineering works, concrete construction 
and mineral aggregates at a good level. The volume of paving works remained close 
to the level of the previous year despite the price increase for bitumen products.

Growth in building construction increased the demand for technical building 
projects as well as for maintenance and servicing. Demand for electrical contracting 
was down after the summer, but regional variations were considerable. As for tech-
nical building system renovation projects, the order book grew due to piping reno-
vations in residential buildings, repairs improving the energy efficiency of buildings, 
and changes in heating methods. 

Other markets
In Sweden, highly active mining operations and major tunnel projects have kept rock 
engineering contractors busy in 2011. The state of Sweden has allocated consider-
able resources to the development of the country’s infrastructure, thus increasing 
the total volume of infrastructure construction for several years running. The building 
construction market situation in Sweden is good for renovation projects in particular. 
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The volumes of infrastructure construction in Norway and Denmark grew by ap-
proximately 5 per cent in 2011. In both countries, the paving season was better than 
in the previous year. Demand for infrastructure construction was also boosted by the 
growth of the energy supply sector, and several ongoing road and rail projects. 

The economies of the Baltic countries started out on the road to recovery, but 
construction was still muted. The number of road construction and renovation pro-
jects exceeded that of the previous year. In Estonia, demand for infrastructure con-
struction grew faster than in other Baltic countries. 

According to the estimates of Euroconstruct, the volumes of new residential 
construction in St. Petersburg, Russia, grew by approximately 10 per cent com-
pared to the previous year, with the value of the business reaching EUR 2.8 billion. 
Prices for new apartments were up by approximately 8 per cent. The demand for 
residential construction in Russia was supported particularly by the growth in con-
sumer purchasing power, and the better availability of consumer mortgages. More 
and more apartment buyers finance their apartment with a mortgage, and the num-
bers of granted mortgages showed a considerable increase. 

STRATEGY IMPLEMENTATION IN 2011 AND UPDATES TO THE STRATEGY
Lemminkäinen published its current strategy for the period 2010–2013 in Novem-
ber 2009. In October 2011, the company updated its strategy and confirmed its fi-
nancial targets. 

The key goals of Lemminkäinen’s strategy are profitable growth and strength-
ening of the Group’s financial position. The growth target for the company’s net 
sales is an average of 10 per cent by the end of the 2010–2013 strategic period. 
The Group’s other financial target levels are return of investment over 18 per cent, 
and equity ratio of at least 35 per cent. The company seeks to issue dividends cor-
responding to at least 40 per cent of the result of the financial period. 

Financial target levels and their achievement in 2011

Lemminkäinen’s  
financial targets Target level

Actual in 
2011 

Actual in 
2010

Return on investment
over 18 per cent at the end of 
the strategic period 10.8% 7.0%

Equity ratio at least 35 per cent 30.8% 35.0%

Growth in net sales 
10 per cent on average by the 
end of the strategic period 24% -4%

Payment of dividend
40 per cent of the result of 
the financial period 28% ¹) over 100%

¹) Board of Directors’ proposal on dividends

In 2011, the net sales of Lemminkäinen grew by 24 per cent, and the company 
more than quadrupled its pre-tax profit. At 10.8 per cent, return on investment had 
also improved on the previous year. Profitability does not, however, meet set targets 
yet, but the company is clearly moving in the right direction. Strategy updates in the 
autumn of 2011 and the efficiency programme set up by Lemminkäinen are initia-
tives whose primary goal is to improve the Group’s profitability. At 30.8 per cent, 
equity ratio was weaker than in the previous year. This was partly due to the growth 
of Lemminkäinen’s business volumes and the capital invested in own residential 
development. Proposed dividends for 2011 are EUR 0.50 per share, equalling 28.3 
per cent of the company’s result for the financial period. In 2010, when the result 
of the financial period was EUR 0.02 per share, the company paid out dividends at 
EUR 0.50 per share.

Key points of the autumn 2011 strategy update
On 10 October 2011, Lemminkäinen published its specified strategic focus for the 
period ending in 2013. The company’s key strategic targets and financial target 
levels remained unchanged. 

In business operations, focus will shift to more profitable segments. In Building 
Construction, Lemminkäinen aims to increase the share of operations accounted 
for by its own development to over 50 per cent of the sector’s net sales (about 30 
per cent in 2011) and strengthen the company’s market share in residential con-
struction. Maintenance and servicing for technical building systems will also be bol-
stered. The goal is to raise the service business share of the Technical Building Ser-
vices’ net sales to approximately 50 per cent (about 30 per cent in 2011).

Lemminkäinen looks for growth in its international operations, in particular. In 
St Petersburg, the company seeks to start up the construction of about 1,000 res-
idential units annually. The company intends to increase net sales from infrastruc-
ture construction in Norway, Denmark and Sweden by a total of about EUR 100 
million in 2012–2013. In addition to the paving business, Lemminkäinen is seeking 
growth from special contracting in infrastructure construction, in which the Com-
pany has achieved a good competitive position in, for example, the growing Nordic 
market for rock engineering and geotechnical engineering works. Growth can also 
be accelerated through acquisitions.

Efficiency programme to boost the achievement of strategic targets
When Lemminkäinen updated its strategy, it also initiated an efficiency programme 
aiming at improving profitability. The programme seeks annual cost-savings of EUR 
50 million after 2013. Boosting efficiency in procurements will yield about EUR 30 
million of these savings. Savings of approximately EUR 20 million are sought by im-
proving the efficiency of operations, existing processes, the business locations net-
work and organisational and management structures. As part of the efficiency pro-
gramme, Lemminkäinen initiated personnel negotiations in the autumn of 2011. As 
a result of the negotiations, Lemminkäinen will make a reduction of a maximum of 
300 man-years during 2011–2012.
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International Operations to be the Company’s fourth business sector
Effective 1 January 2012, Lemminkäinen created a new business sector – the 
company’s fourth – out of its international operations in order to ensure profitable 
growth and the company’s competitiveness in an international operating environ-
ment. In addition to Finland, Lemminkäinen’s main market areas comprise Russia, 
the other Nordic countries, and the Baltic countries.

NET SALES

Net sales by business sector, 
EUR million 1–12/2011 1–12/2010 Change
Building construction 894.1 770.2 16%

Infrastructure Construction 1,178.8 932.9 26%

Technical building services 293.9 269.1 9%

Other operations and Group eliminations –59.4 –61.2 3%

Business sectors, total 2,307.4 1 911.0 21%

Reconciling items –33.3 –81.4 59%

Group, total (IFRS) 2,274.1 1 829.6 24%

of which operations outside Finland 780.3 543.5 44%

Lemminkäinen’s net sales grew in by 24%, amounting to EUR 2,274.1 million 
(1,829.6). Net sales grew in all Group’s business sectors. In Finland, residential de-
velopment increased from the previous year with Lemminkäinen completing a total 
of 1,077 (418) residential units as own development. In infrastructure construction, 
the net sales growth was boosted by the underground infrastructure projects in 
growth centres and the mine excavation works in Northern Finland. Bustling build-
ing construction also increased the demand for mineral aggregates, concrete prod-
ucts, and technical building services. 

In addition to Finland, Lemminkäinen’s main market areas comprise Russia, 
the other Nordic countries, and the Baltic countries. In 2011, the company’s net 
sales from operations outside Finland saw year-on-year growth of 44 per cent, 
and amounted to EUR 780.3 million (543.5). The growth of Lemminkäinen’s pav-
ing contracting operations in Norway was fortified by the acquisition of Mesta In-
dustri AS. During the current year, and for the first time, the company’s net sales 
from paving operations in Norway exceeded those accrued in Finland. Infrastructure 
business operations in Denmark and the Baltic countries as well as building con-
struction in Sweden also exceeded the levels of the previous year. Net sales from 
operations in Russia were approximately on a par with the level of the previous year. 

Of the net sales during the review period, 66% (71) was generated in Finland, 
23% (17) in other Nordic countries, 5% (5) in Russia and 6% (7) in other countries.

OPERATING PROFIT

Net sales by business sector, 
EUR million 1–12/2011 1–12/2010 Change
Building construction 16.3 25.6 –36%

Infrastructure Construction 63.9 15.3 over 100%

Technical building services 5.2 4.5 16%

Other operations –16.6 –15.6 –6%

Business sectors, total 68.8 29.7 over 100%

Reconciling items –15.3 –0.1 over 100%

Group, total (IFRS) 53.5 29.6 81%

Operating margin by business sector, % 1–12/2011 1–12/2010
Building construction 1.8 3.3

Infrastructure Construction 5.4 1.6

Technical building services 1.8 1.7

Group, total (IFRS) 2.4 1.6

Lemminkäinen’s operating profit in 2011 improved by 81% and amounted to EUR 
53.5 million (29.6). Operating margin was 2.4% (1.6). In infrastructure construc-
tion, the result more than quadrupled year-on-year. Profitability improved espe-
cially in the concrete business sector and in the paving operations of Norway and 
Denmark. In building construction, more own housing development projects were 
completed than in the previous year. The result for this sector was, however, bur-
dened by the low profitability of contracting and the rise in the costs of construc-
tion. The company had non-recurring capital gains from equipment sales in 2010. 
The profitability of Technical Building Services improved during the second half 
of the year, particularly because of the upturn in the market and the impact of the 
Company’s internal profitability improvement measures.

Lemminkäinen’s operating profit for 2011 was also improved by about EUR 11 
million in negative goodwill from the Mesta Industri AS acquisition. Consolidated 
operating profit does not include EUR 15.3 million in capital gains from the sale of 
the roofing business. Its impact is recorded in the Group’s result for the review peri-
od and earnings per share.
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ORDER BOOK

Order book by business sector, 
EUR million 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 Change
Building construction 768.5 683.9 12%

of which unsold 206.3 135.3 52%

Infrastructure Construction 521.8 416.6 25%

Technical building services 110.0 125.9 –13%

Group, total 1,400.4 1,226.4 14%

of which operations outside Finland 482.5 294.3 64%

Lemminkäinen’s order book grew by 14% and amounted to EUR 1,400.4 million 
(1,226.4). In Building Construction, the order book for the Finnish operations re-
mained at the level of the previous year, whereas the order book for international 
operations grew. In Infrastructure Construction, the order book grew thanks to rock 
engineering, foundation construction and geotechnical engineering, and interna-
tional business operations. In Technical Building Services, the order book remained 
somewhat below the level of the previous year: however, the outlook in this sector, 
particularly for the first half of the coming year, is relatively good. Technical Building 
Services have increased their attention to the margins of the order book. 

Lemminkäinen’s international order book grew by 64% year-on-year, and 
amounted to EUR 482.5 million (294.3). International orders were boosted by res-
idential construction in Russia: at the end of 2011, the company initiated a project 
in the Vasily Island of St. Petersburg, comprising 400 residential apartments. In In-
frastructure Construction, the order book grew particularly in the paving operations 
of Norway, Denmark and Estonia. Of the Group’s order book, 66 (76) per cent orig-
inated in Finland, 20 (16) per cent in the other Nordic countries, 7 (3) per cent in 
Russia, and 7 (5) per cent in the Baltic countries and in other countries.

BALANCE SHEET, CASH FLOW AND FINANCING
The balance sheet total stood at EUR 1,242.8 million (1,062.0) on 31 December 
2011. The balance sheet grew due to growth in Lemminkäinen’s business opera-
tions and the increased emphasis on own residential development. 

The Group’s return on investment improved to 10.8% (7.0). The equity ratio of 
30.8% was down on the previous year (35). The equity ratio declined due to the 
growth of the balance sheet. Gearing was 114.5% (105.7). Working capital grew 
by 20%, amounting to EUR 861.4 million (720.6). Net working capital was EUR 
435.7 million (388.6). Lemminkäinen seeks to achieve an 18 per cent return on in-
vestment and an equity ratio of 35 per cent by the end of the 2010–2013 strategy 
period. The company also seeks to reduce its net working capital by approximate-
ly EUR 100 million. 

At the end of the review period, interest-bearing debt was EUR 431.6 million 
(375.5), of which long term interest-bearing debt accounted for EUR 194.6 million 
(214.1) and short term interest-bearing debt for EUR 237.0 million (161.4). Inter-
est-bearing net debt was EUR 401.2 million (349.2). Of all interest-bearing debt, 
38% were with a fixed interest rate, and on 31 December 2011, the financing ex-
penses of all interest-bearing debt was, on average, 3.4%.

Of the Group’s interest-bearing debt, 17% (17) comprise loans from financial 
institutions, 28% (20) commercial papers, 12% (8) project loans related to own 
production of residential and business premises, 15% (24) pension loans, 14% (15) 
finance leasing liabilities and 14% (16) bonds. Moreover, the company had unused 
committed credit limits in the amount of EUR 140,7 million (160,0) at the end of 
the review period.

Some of the Group’s loan arrangements include two financial covenants that 
are reviewed quarterly: equity ratio and ratio of net debt to EBITDA.

Net financing expenses during the review period amounted to EUR 18.9 million 
(22.0), representing 0.8% (1.2) of net sales. The Group’s financing expenses were 
reduced by the financial arrangements carried out in late 2010. 

During the third quarter of the year, Lemminkäinen prepared for the uncertain-
ty of the financial market by strengthening its cash reserve. At the end of the review 
period, the company’s cash reserve was reduced so that its liquid assets amounted 
to EUR 30.4 million (26.3) on 31 December 2011.

According to the cash flow statement, the cash flow from operating activities 
in 2011 was EUR –7.1 million (–37.2). Growth of the sales inventory for own resi-
dential development had a major impact on the cash flow from operating activities. 
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BUSINESS SECTORS
Building construction

Key figures, EUR million 1–12/2011 1–12/2010 Change 1–3/11 4–6/11 7–9/11 10–12/11
Net sales 894.1 770.2 16% 184.2 210.1 211.6 288.2

Operating profit 16.3 25.6 –36% –3.7 2.8 1.6 15.6

Operating margin % 1.8 3.3 –2.0 1.3 0.8 5.4

Order book at end of period 768.5 683.9 12% 750.0 775.0 784.4 768.5

of which unsold 206.3 135.3 53% 192.7 222.6 178.0 206.3

In 2011, net sales from Building Construction grew in by 16%, amounting to EUR 
894.1 million (770.2). Net sales grew particularly due to residential construction in 
Finland and building construction in Sweden. Of the net sales, 81% (76) came from 
Finland, 7% (7) from Russia, 12% (10) from Sweden and 0% (7) from other countries.

The business sector’s operating profit was EUR 16.3 million (25.6). The re-
sult for the corresponding period of 2010 includes non-recurring capital gains from 
equipment sales. Lemminkäinen’s own residential construction saw a clearly higher 
completion rate, and the housing market remained steady throughout the year. The 
result for this sector was, however, burdened by the low profitability of competitive 
contracting and the rise in the costs of construction. The result for Building Con-
struction depended heavily on the last quarter, since more than half of the compa-
ny’s own residential development projects were completed in December. 

At the end of 2011, the order book amounted to EUR 768.5 million (683.9). 
The order book was boosted particularly by residential construction in Russia, 
where Lemminkäinen initiated a new residential apartment project in St. Peters-
burg, comprising approximately 400 apartments. International operations account-
ed for approximately a quarter of the building construction order book, whereas in 
2010 their share had been 13%.

Operations in Finland
In 2011, Lemminkäinen began the construction of a total of 1,612 (2,252) new 
residential units, of which own development accounted for 67% (45). The housing 
market was fairly steady throughout the year, although selling times became slight-
ly longer around year end.

Lemminkäinen housing  
development ¹), Finland 2011 2010 2009
Residential start-ups (own development) 1,076 1,004 351

Residential start-ups (contracted development) 536 1,248 1,090

Housing units sold 914 911 771

Completed 1,077 418 533

Under construction at end of period 989 991 405

of which unsold 483 439 193

Completed and available for sale at end of period 224 110 263

¹) Housing units sold, completed, under construction and available for sale are all own development

At the end of the period, the company owned a total of 792,000 m² of unused 
building rights in Finland, of which 380,000 m² were residential building rights. 
The company also had binding or conditional co-operation and zoning agreements 
for 443,000 m², of which 188,000 m² were residential building rights. The bal-
ance sheet value of the plots was EUR 104.6 million (90.1) at the end of the re-
view period.

In the Jätkäsaari district of Helsinki, the company is building 430 units in four 
residential blocks. The entity comprises a total of seven buildings, two of which are 
Hitas projects (price and quality controlled owner-occupied flats). The last units of 
the residential block are estimated to be completed during 2016. 

In the field of business and commercial construction, Lemminkäinen initiat-
ed numerous projects around Finland. In downtown Helsinki, the company is build-



Board of directors report – financial statements – Lemminkäinen annual report 2011 87

International operations
In Russia, the focus of Lemminkäinen’s operations was in own residential construc-
tion in the St. Petersburg area. Lemminkäinen sold a total of 194 (276) residen-
tial units in St. Petersburg during 2011. The largest number of residential unit sales 
was concluded during the last quarter of the year. Demand for new apartments was 
accelerated by the better availability of consumer mortgages to Russian apartment 
buyers. Out of Lemminkäinen’s customers, approximately a fifth financed their 
apartment purchase partly with a mortgage, a practice which in the previous year 
had been nonexistent. 

In the spring of 2011, Lemminkäinen signed a framework agreement for the im-
plementation of a vast residential construction project on Vasily Island in down-
town St. Petersburg. Under the agreement, Lemminkäinen will build and develop 
approximately 2,000 residential units in addition to business and office premises 
on a 5.6-hectare lot. The total value of the project is approximately EUR 400 mil-
lion. Construction is expected to begin in 2012, and last approximately five years. 

In the last quarter of the year, Lemminkäinen completed a site with 150 residen-
tial units in northern St. Petersburg. The company also initiated a new site of 400 
residential units on Vasily Island. The value of the inventories that Lemminkäinen 
had tied up in Russia at the end of the review period was EUR 46.8 million (47.9).

Lemminkäinen’s own  
housing development, Russia 2011 2010 2009
Residential start-ups (own development) 404 154 0

Housing units sold 194 276 133

Completed 154 498 104

Under construction at end of period 404 154 479

of which unsold 404 154 367

Completed and available for sale at end of period 82 122 22

Building construction in Sweden performed well in 2011, and the future outlook is 
also positive, due to the order book, which is stronger than before.  In 2011, op-
erations in Sweden accounted for 12% of Lemminkäinen’s Building Construction 
net sales. In Sweden, the Company primarily builds residential units and renovates 
business premises, particularly public buildings. 

ing three office buildings valued at a total of about EUR 150 million in Töölönlah-
ti. Some of the buildings will also include exclusive residential units. In Sipoo and 
Vantaa, Southern Finland, Lemminkäinen is building two large logistics centres that 
will be completed in 2012 and are valued at a total of around EUR 45 million. In 
industrial construction, Lemminkäinen is working on significant, ongoing contracts 
at the Westenergy power plant in Mustasaari, and two turnkey projects in Espoo 
and Hämeenlinna. In Turku, Lemminkäinen is constructing a Gigantti electronics 
store for Virtanen Yhtiöt Oy as well as K-Citymarket supermarkets in Kokkola and 
Mäntsälä for Kesko.

In building construction renovation, the market situation remained favourable. 
In Helsinki and Porvoo, Lemminkäinen embarked on a renovation contract for a total 
of 18 apartment buildings, valued at a total of approximately EUR 27 million. In the 
Tapiola centre in Espoo, Lemminkäinen will conduct extensive renovation and con-
struction works. The value of the project is approximately EUR 27 million, and it is 
estimated to be completed early in the summer of 2013. 

Business operations in the real estate sector were also more active than in the 
previous year. In Tampere, a residential property that will be completed in the spring 
of 2013 was sold to SATO, one of Finland’s leading corporate investors in housing. 
The third phase of Polaris Business Park in Leppävaara, Espoo, was sold to a Ger-
man property investor. In addition, Lemminkäinen sold a number of smaller individ-
ual business premise projects around Finland to both Finnish and foreign proper-
ty investors.  
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Infrastructure construction

Key figures, EUR million 1–12/2011 1–12/2010 Change 1–3/11 4–6/11 7–9/11 10–12/11
Net sales 1,178.8 932.9 26% 85.4 293.7 482.6 317.1

Operating profit 63.9 15.3 yli 100% –7.1 24.3 50.3 –3.6

Operating margin % 5.4 1.6 –8.3 8.3 10.4 –1.1

Order book at end of period 521.8 416.6 25% 598.1 829.6 577.8 521.8

The net sales of the Infrastructure Construction business sector grew by more than 
25 per cent in 2011, and amounted to EUR 1,178.8 million (932.9). Net sales in 
Finland grew in particular because of special contracting in infrastructure con-
struction, and the concrete business sector. In Norway and Denmark, the paving 
season lasted longer than in the previous year. Volumes were also increased by the 
successful acquisition of Mesta Industri AS in Norway. Net sales in the Baltic coun-
tries also grew compared to the previous year. The order book of operations outside 
Finland grew by 60% and amounted to EUR 557.5 million (349.2). Infrastructure 
Construction generated 52% (55) of its net sales in Finland, 36% (31) in the other 
Nordic countries, and 9% (9) in the Baltic states. 

The business sector’s operating profit quadrupled, totalling EUR 63.9 million 
(15.3). The most significant improvements in results could be observed in the oper-
ations in Norway and Denmark; however, profitability in Finland also surpassed the 
levels of the previous year. In mineral aggregates and the concrete business sec-
tor, in particular, profitability was clearly above past levels. Non-recurring items im-
pacting the 2011 result include capital gains of EUR 15.3 for the sale of the roof-
ing business and about EUR 11 million in negative goodwill from the acquisition of 
Mesta Industri AS, which had a positive impact on the result of the business sector. 
The comparable year 2010 was burdened by, for example, loss-generating mainte-
nance contracts in Norway, and the poor market situation in the Baltic countries. 

The order book for Infrastructure Construction grew by 25 per cent, totalling at 
EUR 521.8 million (416.6). Growth in the order book was due mainly to the paving 
activities in Norway and Estonia, and to special contracting in infrastructure con-
struction. International operations accounted for more than a half of the order book, 
i.e. EUR 285.4 (192.6). 

Operations in Finland
In Infrastructure Construction, demand was high in nearly all business sectors. Nu-
merous underground construction projects and mining in Northern Finland provid-
ed plenty of work in rock engineering. Lemminkäinen won two major Western Met-
ro excavation contracts in the Helsinki metropolitan area with a total value of EUR 
36 million. The Pahtavaara gold mine in Northern Finland provided continuation for 
Lemminkäinen’s mine excavation contracting, as the company was selected as the 
excavation contractor for 2012–2013. The value of this contract is approximate-
ly EUR 20 million, and it includes an option for further excavation projects in 2014. 

During the year, Lemminkäinen began works for three major parking facilities in 
Hämeenlinna, Espoo and Tampere. The projects continue in 2012, and their com-
bined total value is approximately EUR 50 million. Moreover, the company is work-
ing on the excavation and interior contract for the Finlandia Concert and Conference 
Hall parking garage in downtown Helsinki. The value of this project is approximately 
EUR 40 million, and it is estimated to be completed in 2012.

The pickup in building construction in Finland also increases the demand for 
geotechnical engineering works, concrete products and mineral aggregates. De-
mand was high especially for concrete products. In 2011, the total volume of paving 
work in Finland remained at the level of the previous year in or, in some regions, even 
declined slightly. The paving market was burdened by the rising prices of raw ma-
terials, especially bitumen products. In spite of the deteriorating market situation, 
Lemminkäinen managed to retain the volume and profitability of the paving busi-
ness sector at a good level. The company successfully defended itself from the ris-
ing bitumen prices with oil derivatives and contractual arrangements. 

International operations
Early in the summer, Lemminkäinen completed the acquisition of Mesta Industri 
AS in Norway, making it the country’s largest paving contractor in 2011. For the 
first time, the company now racks up greater net sales from paving operations in 
Norway than in Finland. In Western Norway, Lemminkäinen initiated a hydropow-
er plant project that is estimated to be completed in the summer of 2013. The total 
value of the contract is about EUR 20 million. Also in Denmark, the paving season 
of 2011 was a good one, with Lemminkäinen’s net sales and result growing consid-
erably compared to the previous year. 

In Sweden, Lemminkäinen has, in the past few years, solidified its position as a 
major special contractor in infrastructure construction. The company is currently en-
gaged in sizeable mine excavation contracts in, for example, the mines of Svartliden 
and Kiruna. Moreover, during the current year, Lemminkäinen began the construction 
of bypass route for a power plant in Central Sweden. The value of this project is ap-
proximately EUR 43 million, and it is estimated to be completed in early 2014.

In the Baltic countries, activity in infrastructure construction has gradually in-
creased, but construction volumes are still far from the peak figures of 2007. In the 
summer and early autumn, Lemminkäinen landed numerous infrastructure construction 
contracts in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania, valued at a total of about EUR 48 million. 
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Technical building services

Key figures, EUR million 1–12/2011 1–12/2010 Change 1–3/11 4–6/11 7–9/11 10–12/11
Net sales 293.9 269,1 9% 63.6 69.7 75.9 84.7

Operating profit 5.2 4,5 16% 0.7 –1.4 1.6 4.3

Operating margin % 1.8 1,7 1.1 –2.0 2.1 5.1

Order book at end of period 110.0 125,9 –13% 123.5 130.2 123.3 110.0

In 2011, Technical Building Services’ net sales grew by 9%, amounting to EUR 
293.9 million (269.1). 83 per cent of the net sales were generated in Finland. The 
business sector’s operations outside Finland largely comprise the construction of 
telecom networks in, for example, North and South America. Operating profit im-
proved by 16% and amounted to EUR 5.2 million (4.5). The sector’s profitability im-
proved especially during the second half of the year. The insufficient earnings trend 
early on in the year was impacted by the weak profitability of contracting and the rise 
in certain raw material and input prices. The sector implemented various profitabili-
ty improvement measures, such as improving the efficiency of sales and marketing, 
productisation of services, and centralised procurement. Process management and 
follow-up of contracted projects were also developed further. At year end, the order 
book of Technical Building Services amounted to EUR 110.0 million (125.9).

In 2011, Lemminkäinen embarked on various contracted technical building ser-
vice projects around Finland, both for new and renovation construction. The com-
pany won a contract, worth approximately EUR 4 million, for the pipe-laying, elec-
trification and construction works at the Finnish food industry company Atria Plc’s 
plant in Kauhajoki, western Finland. The construction works will be performed by 
Lemminkäinen’s building construction sector, and their total value is approximate-
ly EUR 6 million. 

In Turku, the company is currently working on the technical building renova-
tion contracts of Kuntatalo and Linnakiinteistö. The company has also concluded 
an agreement with Itella, a provider of information and product flow services, on the 
maintenance and repairs of the ventilation systems of major postal centres and ter-
minals around Finland. Moreover, Lemminkäinen is currently carrying out a large-scale 
electrification contract at the Kevitsa mine. The contract is valued at about EUR 9 
million, and it is Lemminkäinen’s largest individual industrial electrification project.



Lemminkäinen annual report 2011 – financial statements – Board of directors report90

INVESTMENTS 
Gross investments in 2011 amounted to EUR 84.0 million (59.6), representing 3.7 
per cent (3.3) of the company’s net sales. They were mainly replacement invest-
ments in infrastructure construction and individual acquisitions. Lemminkäinen’s 
most significant acquisition in 2011 was that of the Norwegian infrastructure con-
struction company Mesta Industri AS for the price of around EUR 11 million. 

ENVIRONMENT
Lemminkäinen takes life-cycle and environmental perspectives into account when 
developing its operations, products and services. The Group’s management of en-
vironmental affairs and the environmental effects of operations are continuously 
monitored by means of internal monitoring and control programmes. The Group is 
moving ahead with its development programme that aims to define common goals 
for environmental responsibility, operational models and performance indicators un-
til the end of current strategy period. Environmental reporting is being developed in 
line with the international GRI (Global Reporting Initiative) framework’s G3 guide-
lines. In 2011, Lemminkäinen participated for the first time in the international Car-
bon Disclosure Project (CDP) analyses, which evaluates performance in climate-re-
lated issues. Concurrently, the company initiated a risk assessment on the impact 
of climate change to its operations. 

The Company’s Annual Report and website provide more information on Lem-
minkäinen’s environmental issues.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Research and development activities at Lemminkäinen focus on the utilisation of 
information technology in construction, environmental and energy efficiency, and 
service development and productisation. The utilisation of building information 
modelling in project planning was developed further in 2011. The productisation of 
services moved ahead particularly in the Technical Building Services sector, which, 
in January 2012, launched an extensive product family that improves the energy ef-
ficiency and safety of buildings. Products and services are developed in long term 
collaboration with customers.

In February, Lemminkäinen received a patent in the field of renovation con-
struction for its apartment-block-raising method, with which an apartment 
block’s additional building rights can be utilised efficiently and without distur-
bance to inhabitants. The method also enables installing elevators in older, non-el-
evator buildings.

The Group’s business sectors are each responsible for their own research and 
development activities, which focus, for example, on developing the efficiency and 
operating environment of business activities, and quality assurance. Lemminkäin-
en’s Central Laboratory carries out infrastructure construction R&D at Group level. 
In 2011, the Group’s research and development expenditure accounted for approxi-
mately 0.7% of net sales.

EMPLOYEES
During the review period, the Group companies had 8,421 employees (8,314) on 
average. Of all employees, 69 per cent (71) were employed in Finland, 14 per cent 
(12) in other Nordic countries, 9 per cent (10) in Baltic countries and 8 per cent (7) 
in other countries.

Personnel on average 1–12/2011 1–12/2010 Change
Hourly paid employees 5,489 5,401 2%

Salaried employees 2,932 2,913 1%

Personnel, total 8,421 8,314 1%

of whom working outside Finland 2,590 2,372 9%

Personnel at the end of the financial year 7,929 7,744 2%

Personnel by business sector, 
average 1–12/2011 1–12/2010 Change
Building Construction 2,228 2,063 8%

Infrastructure Construction 3,914 4,000 –2%

Technical Building Services 2,017 2,060 –2%

Parent company 261 191 37%

Group, total 8,421 8,314 1%

In Infrastructure Construction, Lemminkäinen gained about 170 new employees 
in connection with the Mesta Industri AS acquisition in Norway. In addition, about 
400 employees left Lemminkäinen’s employ in Finland in early 2011 due to the di-
vestment of the roofing business. 

In early 2011, Lemminkäinen centralised its business support functions to cre-
ate Shared services: at this time, employees from business sectors transferred to 
the parent company. Support functions are handled on a centralised basis by inter-
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nal competence and service centres, enabling the business functions to focus more 
effectively on their core operations. 

On 24 October 2011, Lemminkäinen initiated personnel negotiations that impact 
the whole Group. As a result of the negotiations, the company will make a reduction of 
a maximum of 300 man-years. All personnel reductions involved will be finalised by the 
end of 2012. These reductions mainly affect the management and salaried employ-
ees in Finland. The negotiations were part of Lemminkäinen’s comprehensive efficien-
cy programme, seeking annual cost-savings of EUR 50 million from 2013 onwards.

CHANGES IN THE ORGANISATION STRUCTURE
Changes taking effect during 2011
Lemminkäinen’s internal support functions – HR, financial administration, IT, le-
gal affairs as well as communications and marketing – were centralised in internal 
competence and service centres that were launched at the beginning of 2011. The 
Group’s business sectors started using the competence and service centres during 
2011. The target of shared services is to provide optimal support to business ob-
jectives. The company is seeking a competitive edge and support for growth from 
cost-effective, professional and high-quality internal support services.

Changes decided on in 2011 and taking effect from the beginning of 2012
On 1 January 2012, Lemminkäinen merged its international business operations in-
to a new business sector. After the change, Lemminkäinen’s business sectors in-
clude Building Construction, Infrastructure Construction, Technical Building Ser-
vices and International Operations. 

Henrik Eklund, M.Sc. (Eng.), who is a member of the Group’s Executive Board, 
started out as the Executive Vice President of International Operations on 1 Janu-
ary 2012. His latest position was Lemminkäinen’s Executive Vice President of Infra-
structure Construction. Eklund is responsible for Lemminkäinen’s operations outside 
Finland, where the most significant areas are infrastructure construction in Scandi-
navia and the Baltic countries, and building construction in Russia and Sweden.

Harri Kailasalo, M.Sc. (Eng.), eMBA, has been appointed Executive Vice Pres-
ident of Infrastructure Construction and a member of the Executive Board as of 1 
January 2012. He is responsible for Infrastructure Construction operations in Fin-
land. Earlier, Kailasalo was Senior Vice President in Lemminkäinen’s Infrastructure 
Construction business sector. 

Jukka Terhonen, M.Sc. (Eng), member of the Group Executive Board and Ex-
ecutive Vice President, Building Construction, will from 1 January 2012 onwards 

be responsible for Building Construction operations in Finland, and Marcus Karsten, 
M.Sc. (Econ.), Group Executive Board member and Executive Vice President, Tech-
nical Building Services, will assume responsibility for Finland’s Technical Building 
Service operations. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In 2009, the Supreme Administrative Court (SAC) ordered Finnish asphalt in-
dustry companies to pay an infringement fine for violations of the Act on Compe-
tition Restrictions.

In late 2011, a total of 40 claims for damages brought by municipalities and 
the Finnish state (Finnish Transport Agency) are pending against Lemminkäinen 
and other asphalt industry companies in the District Court. The claimants contend 
that restrictions of competition have caused them damages. The total amount of 
damages sought from Lemminkäinen is currently about EUR 117 million. After the 
Finnish Transport Agency changed its claim, the total amount of claims has risen 
by approximately EUR 15 million. The claims presented in the statements of claim 
differ from each other as regards their amounts and grounds. 

The ruling rendered by the SAC in 2009 as it stands does not mean that Lem-
minkäinen or the other asphalt industry companies actually caused any damages to 
the asphalt work clients. The ruling does not concern the individual contracts that 
the claimants cited in support of their claims. Nor does the ruling concern the pric-
ing of individual contracts. The SAC has not investigated the contention that inflated 
prices that do not correspond to market prices have been charged for the contracts.

Lemminkäinen’s initial position is that the claims for damages are without 
foundation. The claims will be processed in the order and schedule set by the Dis-
trict Court. Preparatory sessions for the trial began in January 2012, but a more de-
tailed process and ruling schedule is currently not yet available. 

No provisions have been made in respect of the claims of the municipalities and 
the Finnish Transport Agency that are pending in the District Court.

Lemminkäinen will provide information on the proceedings in its interim reports 
or in separate releases, as necessary.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Risk management is an essential part of Lemminkäinen’s business operations. The 
target of risk management is to ensure the achievement of strategic and opera-
tional targets, and to increase shareholder value. The Company’s Annual Report and 
website provide more information on Lemminkäinen’s major risks and risk manage-



Lemminkäinen annual report 2011 – financial statements – Board of directors report92

ment policy. A more detailed account of the financial risks is also provided in the 
notes to the 2011 financial statements.

Fluctuations in global economic trends cause uncertainty in the operating en-
vironment and complicate efforts aiming at forecasting future change. New con-
struction in Finland is sensitive to economic cycles and therefore poses a market 
risk. This risk is managed both structurally and operationally. The more stable de-
mand for infrastructure construction balances out fluctuating volumes in new do-
mestic construction, as does the growth in maintenance, servicing and renovation. 

The company’s own housing development involves both sales and price risks. 
Unsold residential units tie up capital and therefore the Company starts new hous-
ing construction only if sufficient numbers of the units have been reserved by buy-
ers in advance. When undertaking own development of business premises, the 
premises are usually sold to real estate investors in the early stages of construction 
at the latest, thereby reducing sales risks. 

Project-specific risks generally involve changes in input costs and the manage-
ment of project implementation. These are managed through systematic project 
management in both bidding and implementation phases. Weather conditions also 
pose a risk in the construction industry. Unusual or harsh weather can weaken the 
profitability of our operations by interrupting or delaying projects. 

Lemminkäinen uses great amounts of oil-based products in asphalt production. 
The price of bitumen is tied to the global price of oil and the Company manages the 
bitumen price risk with oil derivatives and contractual terms. 

Writs of summons filed at district court level by certain municipalities and the 
Finnish Transport Agency pose a risk. 

SHARES AND SHARE CAPITAL
The Company has one share class. Each share carries one vote at a general meeting 
of shareholders and confers an equal right to a dividend. 

The listed price of Lemminkäinen Corporation’s share was EUR 26.00 (24.20) 
at the beginning of the financial year and EUR 18.72 (26.00) at the end. Market 
capitalisation at the end of the period was EUR 367.8 million (510.8). Share turn-
over during the period totalled 3,366,940 (4,171,666). The total value of share 
turnover was EUR 77.0 million (103.2). 

Lemminkäinen’s share capital is EUR 34,042,500 and the total number of 
shares is 19,644,764. Neither the share capital nor number of shares changed dur-
ing the review period.

Authorisations of the Board of Directors
The Extraordinary General Meeting of Lemminkäinen Corporation, held on 12 No-
vember 2009, decided in accordance with the proposal of the Board of Directors to 
authorise the Board of Directors to resolve on a share issue and/or an issue of spe-
cial rights entitling their holders to shares, as referred to in Chapter 10, Section 1 of 
the Finnish Companies Act, in one or more instalments, either against payment or 
without consideration. The Board of Directors is still authorised to issue 1,576,486 
shares and/or special rights entitling their holders to shares. The authorisation is 
valid for five (5) years after being granted. 

Lemminkäinen Corporation’s Annual General Meeting, which convened on 4 
April 2011, resolved to authorise the Board of Directors to decide on the repurchase 
of a maximum of 1,000,000 own shares in one or several instalments, using the 
unrestricted shareholders’ equity of the company, subject to the provisions of the 
Finnish Companies Act on the maximum amount of own shares in the possession 
of the company or its subsidiaries. The authorisation will remain in force for a period 
of 18 months from the resolution of the General Meeting. By the end of 2011, the 
authorisation had not been exercised. 

Share-based incentive plan 
The Company has a share-based incentive plan that covers about 40 key employ-
ees. The plan consists of three a periods, i.e. the calendar years 2010, 2011 and 
2012. The Board of Directors decides on the earnings criteria for each period as well 
as on the targets to be established at the beginning of each earnings period. The re-
ward, if any, for 2011 was based on Lemminkäinen Group’s equity ratio and return 
on investment.

The reward for the earnings period of 2011 will be paid out in 2012 in part in 
company shares and in part as money. The share paid out as money covers the de-
ferred taxes and tax-like payments. The shares may not be transferred during the 
commitment period that ends two years after the end of the earnings period. The 
Company’s CEO and the members of the Group Executive Board must retain own-
ership of half of the shares granted to them as rewards in the plan for two years af-
ter the end of the commitment period.

SHAREHOLDERS
At the end of the review period, the company had 4,548 shareholders (4,979). 
Holders of nominee-registered shares and non-Finnish shareholders held 15 (8) per 
cent of all Lemminkäinen Corporation shares and voting rights. The Pentti fami-
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ly holds approximately 57 per cent (57) of all company shares. Company owner-
ship and division by sector and scale, largest shareholders, and share ownership of 
the members of the Executive Board and the Board of Directors are available on the 
company’s web pages at www.lemminkainen.com/investors. 

Flagging notifications
On 13 September 2011, Peab AB announced that its holding in Lemminkäinen ex-
ceeded 5 per cent. According to the announcement, Peab AB (publ) held 1,140,225 
Lemminkäinen Corporation shares, which is 5.80 per cent of Lemminkäinen Corpo-
ration’s shares and votes. In addition to this, Peab Invest AS, a fully-owned subsid-
iary of Peab AB (publ), holds a forward contract of 940,000 shares, which repre-
sents 4.78 per cent of Lemminkäinen Corporation’s shares and votes. The contract 
was rolled forward at the end of the review period. Lemminkäinen does not know 
the new maturity date. 

On 2 December 2011, the death estate of Erkki Pentti announced that after 
a partial inheritance distribution, shares in Lemminkäinen Corporation belonging to 
the death estate were divided equally between Heppu Pentti and Anna Pentti. Fol-
lowing this, Heppu Pentti and Anna Pentti transferred their shares in Lemminkäin-
en Corporation to PNT Group Oy, of which they each own one half, as a contribution 
in kind. As a result, the shares held by Erkki Pentti’s death estate in Lemminkäinen 
Corporation reduced from 3,673,956 shares, i.e. around 18.7 per cent of all shares 
and votes in Lemminkäinen Corporation, to zero. PNT Group Oy’s shares in Lem-
minkäinen Corporation have risen by the corresponding amount, exceeding 15 per 
cent of all shares and votes in the company.

Shareholder agreements
The Company is not aware of any agreements between shareholders that would 
have a significant bearing on using the ownership or voting behaviour at general 
meetings of shareholders.

RESOLUTIONS OF THE  
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND ADMINISTRATION
On 4 April 2011, Lemminkäinen Corporation’s Annual General Meeting adopted the 
company’s financial statements for 2010 and granted the members of the Board of 
Directors and the President and CEO discharge from liability. The General Meeting 
resolved, in accordance with the Board of Directors’ proposal, to pay a dividend of 
EUR 0.50 per share to a total of EUR 9,822,382. The record date for payment of 
dividend was 7 April 2011 and the dividend was paid on 14 April 2011. 

Berndt Brunow, Juhani Mäkinen, Mikael Mäkinen, Kristina Pentti-von Walzel, 
Heikki Räty and Teppo Taberman were re-elected to serve as members of the Board 
of Directors. PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy, a firm of authorised public accountants, 
was re-elected to serve as the company’s auditors, with Kim Karhu, Authorised 
Public Accountant, as chief auditor. 

Lemminkäinen Corporation’s Board of Directors held an organising meeting on 
4 April 2011. Berndt Brunow will continue as the Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors, and Juhani Mäkinen as the Vice Chairman.

OUTLOOK FOR THE NEAR FUTURE
Finland
The volume of new building construction is expected to decrease in 2012. Residen-
tial unit start-ups are restrained by the uncertain economic outlook and growth in 
new residential unit offering. Factors that support apartment purchasing continue 
to consist of increasing household income, low interest rates, and stable employ-
ment rates. Lemminkäinen estimates that it will start up the construction of about 
1,000 units in its own residential development in Finland in 2012. 

The real estate market has slowed down, and yield requirements, particularly 
for sites outside growth centres, have grown slightly. Demand for commercial con-
struction is weakened by the cautiousness of tenants, who are not eager to get in-
volved in ongoing projects. Lemminkäinen has extensive ongoing business premise 
projects in the Helsinki metropolitan area, and the order book for business premis-
es is satisfactory. The company is preparing commercial building projects in growth 
centres, but they have as yet not been green-lighted. 

The possibility of a slowdown in new building construction reduces demand for 
building technical service projects, although the industry will be impacted by this 
only after a delay. The growing need for piping renovations, repairs that improve en-
ergy efficiency and changes in heating methods increase the demand for building 
technical services and renovation regardless of economic trends. Lemminkäinen’s 
order book in Technical Building Services is satisfactory, and the margins of the or-
der book have clearly become healthier. 

The volume of infrastructure construction is not expected to grow in 2012. 
Paving volumes are also likely to remain on the 2011 level. Demand for rock en-
gineering is maintained by greater mining activity and underground excavation 
work in the growth centres. A number of new rail and railway projects will also be 
launched in 2012. Lemminkäinen has various ongoing special contracts in infra-
structure construction around Finland, and the order book, in its entirety, exceeds 
that of the previous year.



Lemminkäinen annual report 2011 – financial statements – Board of directors report94

Other markets
In Sweden, Norway and Denmark, the volume of infrastructure construction is 
growing faster than in Finland. In Sweden, demand is increased by major motor-
way projects in Stockholm and mining activity Northern Sweden. In Norway and 
Denmark, the number of road and rail projects has increased, which also supports 
the demand for paving works. The construction markets of the Baltic countries are 
gradually improving along with the recovery of their economies. Lemminkäinen has 
numerous infrastructure construction projects in progress in Norway, Sweden and 
the Baltic countries, which extend until 2012–2013.

In St. Petersburg, Russia, residential construction volumes are expected to re-
main roughly on the level of the previous year. Factors that impact residential unit 
demand include consumer purchasing power, domestic population shifts, the avail-
ability of consumer mortgages, and the general political and economic climate in 
Russia. Good plots are increasingly difficult to obtain, which may, to some extent, 
hamper new start-ups. Lemminkäinen has initiated a project of about 400 resi-
dential units on the Vasily island in St. Petersburg, and estimates the project will be 
completed in phases by the end of 2013. 

Lemminkäinen’n profit guidance for 2012
Lemminkäinen estimates that in 2012, its net sales will remain on the same lev-
el as in 2011, and that its pre-tax profit will improve on 2011. This company’s es-
timate of its net sales and profitability development is based on the year-on-year 
growth in the order book and its margins. The guidance is also based on the as-
sumption that the market situation will not deteriorate considerably from late 2011.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL FOR THE DISTRIBUTION OF PROFIT
The distributable shareholders’ equity shown on the balance sheet of the par-
ent company, Lemminkäinen Corporation, amounts to EUR 157,151,029.90, con-
sisting of EUR 82,969,836.31 in retained earnings from previous years and EUR 
13,184,493.09 in profit for the accounting period.

The Board of Directors will propose to the AGM that, for the financial year end-
ed 31 December 2011, the company distributes a per-share dividend of EUR 0.50 
to a total of EUR 9,822,382.00, after which retained earnings would stand at EUR 
86,331,947.40.

EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REVIEW PERIOD
Lemminkäinen has received a flagging notification stating that in a deed of gift 
signed on 4th January 2012, Olavi Pentti bestowed 1,964,480 Lemminkäinen 
shares to his daughter, Noora Forstén. As a result, the shares held by Olavi Pentti in 
Lemminkäinen Corporation is reduced from 3,673,953 shares, i.e. around 18.7 per 
cent of all shares in Lemminkäinen Corporation, to 1,709,473 shares, i.e. approxi-
mately 8.7 per cent of all shares in the company, thereby falling below 10 per cent 
of Lemminkäinen Corporation’s shares and votes. Noora Forstén’s shares in the 
company have risen from 1,593 to 1,966,073, which corresponds to 10 per cent of 
all shares and votes in Lemminkäinen Corporation.

Helsinki, 8 February 2012 

LEMMINKÄINEN CORPORATION
Board of Directors
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Consolidated income  
statement (IFRS)

Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income (IFRS)

EUR 1,000 Note
1.1.2011–

31.12.2011
1.1.2010–

31.12.2010
Net sales 2,3 2,274,127 1,829,562

Other operating income 7 20,719 26,824
Increase or decrease in stocks of finished goods and 
work in progress 48,880 –7,752

Production for own use 294 396

Use of materials and services 1,505,462 1,124,173

Employee benefit expenses 10 456,523 411,525

Depreciation 9 37,997 35,046

Decreases in value of goodwill 9 73

Other operating expenses 8 292,331 249,468

Share of the result of associates 11 1,867 743

Operating profit 53,501 29,561

Financial income 12 11,446 19,765

Financial expenses 12 30,366 41,735

Result before taxes 34,581 7,592

Income taxes	 13 –10,301 –5,819

Result of continuing operations 24,280 1,772

Profit of discontinued operations 5 11,291 –617

Result for the financial year 35,571 1,155

Result for the financial year attributable to

Equity holders of the parent company 34,720 299

Non-controlling interest 851 857

EPS attributable to equity holders of the parent company, EUR

Earnings per share, dilited and undiluted

Continuing operations 1.19 0.05

Discontinued operations 0.57 –0.03

Total 1.77 0.02

EUR 1,000 Note
1.1.2011–

31.12.2011
1.1.2010–

31.12.2010
Result for the financial year 35,571 1,155

Translation difference 22 –811 3,894

Change in fair value 13, 22 –12 12

Cash flow hedge 13, 22 570 460

Other comprehensive income, total –253 4,366

Comprehensive income for the financial year 35,318 5,522

Comprehensive income for the financial year attributable to

Equity holders of  the parent company 34,467 4,665

Non-controlling interest 851 857
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Consolidated statement of financial position (IFRS)

EUR 1,000 Note 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
ASSETS

Non-current assets

Tangible assets 15 207,182 175,259 184,613

Goodwill 16 85,693 84,847 78,265

Other intangible assets 16 18,712 14,407 2,698

Holdings in associates 11 9,291 7,605 6,251

Available-for-sale financial assets 18 5,992 6,410 6,582

Deferred tax assets 13 19,356 17,409 15,702

Other non-current receivables 20 4,765 7,175 7,481

350,991 313,113 301,592

Current assets

Inventories 19 448,467 369,763 374,721

Trade and other receivables 20 407,287 325,975 286,780

Income tax receivables 5,616 12,729 13,998

Cash and cash equivalents 21 30,395 26,348 74,400

891,766 734,815 749,900

Available-for-sale non-current assets 5 14,097

Assets, total 1,242,757 1,062,025 1,051,492

EUR 1,000 Note 31.12.2011 31.12.2010 1.1.2010
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company

Share capital 22 34,043 34,043 34,043

Share premium account 22 5,675 5,750 5,750

Hedging reserve 22 –940 –1,510 –1,970

Fair value reserve 22 12

Invested non-restricted equity fund 22 63,220 63,144

Translation difference 22 1,385 2,196 –1,698

Retained earnings 22 210,591 221,262 231,285

Result for the financial year 22 34,720 299

348,693 325,196 267,410

Non-controlling interest 1,708 5,086 23,213

Shareholders' equity, total 350,401 330,282 290,623

Liabilities   

Non-current liabilities

Loans 25 194,643 214,134 290,749

Deferred tax liability 13 21,727 17,577 18,975

Pension liabilities 23 3,872 508 749

Provisions 24 6,224 2,283 1,762

Other non-current liabilities 26 3,226 3,882 2,390

229,692 238,385 314,626

Current liabilities

Loans 25 236,968 161,381 108,397

Provisions 24 7,495 6,437 8,271

Accounts payable and other liabilities 26 416,383 315,956 322,567

Income tax liabilities 1,817 5,203 7,008

662,664 488,976 446,243

Liabilities for available-for-sale 
non-current assets 5 4,383

Liabilities, total 892,356 731,743 760,869

Shareholders' equity and liabilities, total 1,242,757 1,062,025 1,051,492



Consol idated cash f low statement (IFRS) – financial statements – Lemminkäinen annual report 2011 97

Consolidated cash flow statement (IFRS)

EUR 1,000 Note
1.1.2011–

31.12.2011
1.1.2010–

31.12.2010
Cash flow from business operations

Result before taxes 34,581 7,592

Adjustments 29

Depreciation and impairment on goodwill 38,070 35,046

Share of the result of associates –1,867 –743

Other non-payment-related income and expenses –8,698 7

Financial income and expenses 18,920 21,969

Other adjustments –6,392 –20,558

Cash flow before change in working capital 74,614 43,313

Change in working capital

Increase (–)/decrease(+) in current business receivables –72,367 –36,596

Increase (–)/decrease(+) in inventories –71,323 771

Increase (+)/decrease(–) in current liabilities 82,589 –9,668
Cash flow from operations before 
financial items and taxes 13,513 –2,181

Interest expenses paid –16,470 –16,102

Other financial expenses paid –12,493 –25,379

Dividends received 390 540

Interest received 2,576 2,290

Other financial income received 9,543 15,036

Direct taxes paid –4,167 –11,376

Cash flow from business operations –7,108 –37,172

EUR 1,000 Note
1.1.2011–

31.12.2011
1.1.2010–

31.12.2010
Cash flow from investments

Investments in tangible and intangible assets –41,961 –32,876
Capital gains from the sale of tangible and  
intangible assets 13,747 34,112

Investments in other assets –4 –1

Capital gains from the sale of other investments 1,450 315
Purchases of subsidiary shares less cash and cash 
equivalents at time of purchase 4 –18,532 –11,419
Sales of subsidiary shares less cash and cash 
equivalents at time of sale 5 28,085

Purchases of shares in associated undertakings –622

Cash flow from investments –17,215 –10,491

Cash flow from financing

Share issue for cash consideration 39,525

Increase (–)/decrease(+) in non-current receivables 2,349 307

Short term loans drawn 257,009 244,374

Repayments of short term loans –191,330 –185,988

Long term loans drawn 258,706 83,127

Repayments of long term loans –276,168 –169,789

Repayments of finance leasing debts –11,408 –8,693

Dividends paid –10,791 –2,077

Cash flow from financing 28,367 787

Increase (+)/decrease(–) in cash and cash equivalents 4,045 –46,877
Cash and cash equivalents at  
beginning of financial year 21 26,348 74,400

Translation difference of cash and cash equivalents 2 –1,176

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 30,395 26,348
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Consolidated statement  
of changes in equity (IFRS)

EUR 1,000 Note Share capital

Share 
premium 
account

Hedging  
reserve

Fair value  
reserve

Invested  
non- 

restricted  
equity fund

Translation 
difference

Retained 
earnings

Parent  
company 

shareholders’ 
equity

Non- 
controlling  

interest
Shareholders’ 

equity, total
Shareholders' equity 1.1.2010 34,043 5,750 –1,970 –1,698 234,512 270,637 23,213 293,849

Adjustment –3,226 –3,226 –3,226

Adjusted shareholders' equity 1.1.2010 34,043 5,750 –1,970 –1,698 231,285 267,410 23,213 290,623

Result for the financial year 299 299 857 1,155

Translation difference 3,894 3,894 3,894

Cash flow hedge 460 460 460

Change in fair value 12 12 12
Comprehensive income  
for the financial year 460 12 3,894 299 4,665 857 5,522

Share issue to investors  
for cash consideration 39,525 39,525 39,525
Share issue to non-controlling 
interest for cash consideration 24,335 24,335 24,335
Transaction expenses 
of share issues –716 –716 –716
Direct entries, acquisition of  
non-controlling interest –10,105 –10,105 –10,105

Change in non-controlling interest –17,068 –17,068

Cancellation of dividend liability 82 82 82

Dividends paid 22 –1,915 –1,915

Transactions with owners, total 63,144 –10,024 53,121 –18,983 34,137

Shareholders’ equity 31.12.2010 34,043 5,750 –1,510 12 63,144 2,196 221,561 325,196 5,086 330,282
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EUR 1,000 Note Share capital

Share 
premium 
account

Hedging  
reserve

Fair value  
reserve

Invested 
non- 

restricted 
equity fund

Translation 
difference

Retained 
earnings

Parent  
company 

shareholders’ 
equity

Non- 
controlling 

interest
Shareholders’ 

equity, total
Shareholders’ equity 1.1.2011 34,043 5,750 –1,510 12 63,144 2,196 221,561 325,196 5,086 330,282

Result for the financial year 34,720 34,720 851 35,571

Translation difference –811 –811 –811

Cash flow hedge 570 570 570

Change in fair value –12 –12 –12
Comprehensive income for 
the financial year 570 –12 –811 34,720 34,467 851 35,318

Direct entries, acquisition of  
non-controlling interest –1,147 –1,147 –1,147

Change in non-controlling interest –3,256 –3,256

Dividend distribution 22 –9,822 –9,822 –974 –10,796

Transfers between funds –76 76

Transactions with owners, total –76 76 –10,969 –10,969 –4,230 –15,199

Shareholders’ equity 31.12.2011 34,043 5,675 –940 63,220 1,385 245,311 348,693 1,708 350,401
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Accounting principles applied in the IFRS  
consolidated financial statements, 31 December 2011
BASIC INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY
Lemminkäinen Corporation is a public limited company established under the laws of 
Finland and domiciled in Helsinki. The Company’s registered address is Salmisaaren-
aukio 2, 00180, Helsinki, Finland. Lemminkäinen Corporation is the parent company 
of Lemminkäinen Group. The Group operates in all branches of the construction sector.

The Group comprises the following operating segments: Building Construction, 
Infrastructure Construction and Technical Building Services. Building Construction 
and Infrastructure Construction operate mainly in the Nordic countries and Eastern 
Europe. Technical Building Services operates globally. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and the IAS and IFRS 
standards and SIC and IFRIC interpretations that were in force on 31 Decem-
ber 2011 have been observed in their preparation. The term ‘International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards’ refers to standards and interpretations of them author-
ised for use in the European Union in accordance with the procedure prescribed 
in EU Regulation (EC) No. 1606/2002 as well as in the Finnish Accounting Act 
and the provisions laid down pursuant to the Act. The notes to the consolidated fi-
nancial statements are also in accordance with Finnish accounting and commu-
nity legislation supplemental to the IFRS regulations. The consolidated financial 
statements will be available on the Company’s website at www.lemminkainen.com 
from Week 11 of 2012 onward. Printed copies of the consolidated financial state-
ments can be ordered from the Company’s Corporate Communications staff: tel. 
+358 20 715 8067 or e-mail info@lemminkainen.fi, from Week 14 onward.

The figures in the financial statements are denominated in thousands of euros. 
Transactions are treated on the basis of original acquisition costs, with the excep-
tion of financial instruments. The Board of Directors approved the publication of the 
consolidated financial statements on 8 February 2012.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include Lemminkäinen Corporation and 
those subsidiaries in which the parent company directly or indirectly controls 
over 50 per cent of the voting rights conferred by the shares or otherwise has 
the right to define the company’s financial or business principles. Intra-group 
shareholdings are eliminated by means of the acquisition method. The acquisi-
tion price comprises the consideration paid, the non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree, and the fair value of the prior holding. The consideration paid is meas-

ured as the fair value of the assets given, liabilities assumed, and equity instru-
ments issued by the Group. Any contingent additional acquisition price is meas-
ured at fair value at the time of acquisition and is included in the consideration 
paid. It is classified as either a liability or equity. An additional acquisition price 
classified as a liability is fair valued on the closing date of each reporting peri-
od, and the resulting gains or losses are recognised through profit or loss. An ad-
ditional acquisition price classified as equity is not re-measured. Non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree is recognised on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis at ei-
ther fair value or the amount corresponding to the share of the net assets of the 
acquiree held by non-controlling interests. The amount by which the sum of the 
consideration paid, non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and the fair value of 
the prior holding exceed the fair value of the acquired net assets is recognised 
as goodwill on the balance sheet. If the total amount of consideration, non con-
trolling interest in the acquiree, and the prior holding is smaller than the fair val-
ue of the net assets acquired by the subsidiary, the difference is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

Direct acquisition costs are recognised as expenses in the income statement 
from the beginning of 2010. All costs arising directly from the acquisition were in-
cluded in the acquisition costs until 31 December 2009.

The treatment of transactions with non-controlling interests is the same as 
that of transactions with the Group’s shareholders. When shares are acquired from 
non-controlling interests, the difference between the consideration paid and the 
carrying amount of the acquired net assets in the subsidiary is recognised in equi-
ty. Gains or losses from the sale of shares to non-controlling interests are also rec-
ognised in equity. When control or substantial influence is relinquished, the remain-
ing holding, if any, is measured at fair value and the change in the carrying amount 
is recognised through profit or loss. This fair value serves as the original carrying 
amount when the remaining holding is subsequently treated as an associated com-
pany, a joint venture, or financial assets. In addition, the amounts concerning said 
company that were previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive in-
come are treated as if the Group had surrendered the related assets and liabilities. 
This means that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
items are transferred to profit or loss. 

The goodwill included in the consolidated financial statements is recognised on 
the balance sheet in the currency of the acquiring company, and the goodwill arising 
from acquisitions is recognised in the functional currency of the foreign unit. Subsid-
iaries acquired during the accounting period are included in the consolidated finan-
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cial statements from the moment of the Group gaining a controlling interest, and di-
vested subsidiaries up until the time that the controlling interest is relinquished.

Intra-group transactions; unrealised internal margins; and internal receivables, 
liabilities, and dividend payments are eliminated on consolidation. The distribution 
of dividends to the shareholders of the parent company and to the non-controlling 
interests is presented in connection with the consolidated income statement. On 
the consolidated balance sheet, the non-controlling interest is included in the to-
tal equity of the Group.

Associated companies and joint ventures
Investments in associated companies (generally 20–50 per cent of the voting 
rights or otherwise considerable influence over the company’s affairs) and joint ven-
tures in which the Group exercises authority jointly with other parties are included in 
the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. In such cases, the 
Group’s share of the result of the associated company corresponding to its owner-
ship stake is included in the consolidated income statements. Correspondingly, the 
Group’s share of the equity in the associated company, including the goodwill aris-
ing from its acquisition, is recorded as the value of its holding in the company on the 
consolidated balance sheet. If Lemminkäinen’s share of the losses of an associat-
ed company exceeds the investment’s carrying amount, the investment is assigned 
a value of zero on the balance sheet and the excess is disregarded, unless the Group 
has obligations related to the associated company or joint venture.

Unrealised capital gains arising in connection with business and fixed asset 
transactions between the Group and associated companies or joint ventures are 
eliminated in proportion to the ownership share. The amounts are deducted from 
the Group’s retained earnings and non-current assets. The eliminated capital gain 
is recognised through profit or loss as it is realised.

Shares of the results of associated companies are included in operating profit 
since they belong to the operations of reporting business segments. 

OPERATING SEGMENTS
IFRS 8 Operating Segment Reporting requires that reported segment information 
be based on internal segment reporting to the management, which in Lemminkäin-
en Group means the president of Lemminkäinen Corporation, who is the chief op-
erative decision-maker. Internal segment reporting to the management covers net 
sales, depreciation, operating profit, fixed assets, inventories, and trade receivables. 
The figures reported to the management are accurate to the nearest EUR 1,000.

Reportable segment information is generally prepared according to the princi-
ples applied for the consolidated financial statements. Imputed items are not con-
sidered in segment reporting. These items include, among others, depreciation of 
assets acquired by finance leasing, interest separated from payments, warranty 
provisions, and unrealised gains or losses on derivatives. In segment reporting to the 
management, finance leasing arrangements are treated as ordinary rental agree-
ments, in deviation from the accounting principles of IFRS financial statements. 
Associated companies are combined in segment reporting in proportion to the own-
ership share using the line-by-line method. In IFRS financial statements, associat-
ed companies are combined in accordance with the equity method. In segment re-
porting, inter-segment sales are not allocated to segments, owing to their minimal 
magnitude, and are not reported to the management.

Intra-segment transactions are priced at market prices. The cost plus method, 
wherein the price of a product or service is determined by addition of an appropriate 
profit mark-up to the costs incurred, is the main transfer pricing method applied. 

PRESENTATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Group presents two separate income statements: the consolidated income 
statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The former in-
cludes the components of profit and loss, and the latter starts with the profit or loss 
and presents the equity changes that are unrelated to the shareholders. The consol-
idated statement of changes in equity itemises the transactions with shareholders.

FOREIGN CURRENCY ITEMS
The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, which is also the func-
tional and presentation currency of the Group’s parent company. The figures relating 
to the result and financial position of Group companies are initially recognised in the 
functional currency of their operating environment. Transactions in foreign curren-
cies are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing on 
the date of the transaction. Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign cur-
rencies are translated at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Ex-
change rate differences resulting from operating activities are recorded as adjust-
ments to the corresponding items above the operating profit. Exchange rate gains 
and losses related to financing are recognised as financial income and expenses.

Income statements of Group companies outside the euro area are translated in-
to euros in line with the average exchange rates for the accounting period. All bal-
ance sheet items, with the exception of the profit or loss for the accounting period, 
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are translated into euros at the exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. 
The translation differences resulting from the translation of the income statement 
and balance sheet at different exchange rates and from the elimination of the ac-
quisition cost of subsidiaries outside the euro area are recognised in equity and the 
changes presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. When 
foreign subsidiaries are divested, the translation difference accrued in equity is rec-
ognised through profit and loss as part of capital gains or losses. 

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of foreign currency subsidiaries as well as 
fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of the 
foreign subsidiaries in connection with acquisition are treated as assets and liabil-
ities of the foreign subsidiaries in question and are translated into euros at the ex-
change rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets are recognised on the transaction date. In connection with initial 
recognition, the Group classifies financial assets into the following categories: fi-
nancial assets at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets, 
and loans and receivables. The category is determined in accordance with the pur-
pose for which the financial asset has been acquired. Financial assets are derecog-
nised once the Group has lost the contractual right to their cash flows or when it 
has substantially transferred their risks and returns to a party outside the Group.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trad-
ing or financial assets that are initially classified as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. This category also includes all derivative contracts that do 
not meet the conditions set for hedge accounting in IAS 39. Currency and interest 
rate derivatives that do not meet the conditions set for the above-mentioned hedge 
accounting are entered in this category by the Group. Derivatives are carried at fair 
values based on market prices and generally accepted valuation models. Changes in 
the fair values are recognised in the Group’s financial items.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets, other than derivative con-
tracts, that are specifically designated as such on initial recognition or that are not 
classified in any other category. The Group’s available-for-sale financial assets in-
clude property, housing-company and other shares, as well as short term invest-
ments in the financial market. Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at 
fair value. Changes in the fair values are recognised in equity and presented in other 
comprehensive income. If a fair value cannot be reliably measured, the investment 
is recognised at cost less impairment. The dividends from equity instruments in-
cluded in available-for-sale financial assets and the interest from fixed-income in-
struments are recognised under financial items. 

When assets classified as available-for–sale financial assets are sold or impair-
ment is recognised, accumulated changes in the fair value recognised in equity are 
included in the income statement under other operating income or expenses.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determina-
ble payments, and are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables of the 
Group also include trade and other receivables on the balance sheet. Loans and re-
ceivables are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction expenses and subse-
quently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash funds, bank-account balances and liq-
uid money-market investments with original maturities of less than three months. 

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
On every closing date, the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence 
of impairment of the value of a financial asset or a group of financial assets. If there 
is objective evidence of impairment, the amount recoverable from the financial as-
set, which is the fair value of the asset, is estimated and the impairment loss is rec-
ognised wherever the book value exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairment loss-
es are recognised in the income statement.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, with the transaction costs 
deducted. Subsequently, all financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost us-
ing the effective interest rate method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facil-
ities are capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the 
period of the facility to which it relates. 

The Group has non-current and current financial liabilities, and they may be in-
terest-bearing or non-interest-bearing.

CAPITALISATION OF BORROWING COSTS
The Group capitalises the borrowing costs of obtaining an asset as part of its acquisi-
tion cost when qualifying projects and percentage-of-completion construction projects.

Qualifying assets
A qualifying asset is one that takes longer than a year to prepare for its intended 
purpose. A qualifying asset may be a fixed or movable asset, an inventory item, or an 
intangible asset. 

Costs of borrowing for the purpose of acquisition of an asset
When borrowings are made expressly for the purpose of financing a qualifying as-
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set, the capitalised borrowing costs are the allocated financing expenses arising 
from the actual borrowings less the financial income received from the temporary 
investment of such borrowings. After an asset has been made ready, the unpaid 
amount of the borrowings for the project is transferred to general borrowings. 

General borrowings
The Group’s borrowings are always considered to be the primary form of financing 
even if the cash flow would be sufficient to cover the cost of a qualifying asset. When 
general borrowings are used to finance a qualifying asset, the amount of the capital-
ised costs is determined through application of a capitalisation rate to the expendi-
tures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of those borrowing 
costs applicable to the Company’s borrowings outstanding during the period, other 
than borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

Prepayments
In calculation of the amount of a project’s borrowing costs, project-related prepay-
ments received from the customer are included in the net position arising from the 
contract. If inclusion of the borrowing costs leads to a situation in which the net 
position of the project is positive for the entire construction period, the borrowing 
costs are not capitalised at all. If the net financing position of the project chang-
es from positive to negative during the construction period, the borrowing costs are 
capitalised in respect of the periods during which the net position was negative.

Commencement and cessation of capitalisation
Capitalisation commences when the Company first incurs expenditures for a qual-
ifying asset giving rise to borrowing costs, and when it undertakes activities that 
are necessary for preparation of the asset for its intended use or for sale. Capitalisa-
tion is suspended when effective production is halted. Capitalisation ceases when 
all activities necessary to make the asset ready for its intended use or sale have 
been carried out.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING
Derivatives are recognised initially at the time of acquisition at fair value on the bal-
ance sheet and subsequently measured at fair value. Entries resulting from chang-
es in the fair value are affected by whether or not the derivative has been specified 
as a hedging instrument in accordance with IAS 39 and the type of item the instru-
ment is hedging. 

The Group applies hedge accounting for hedging cash flows of certain varia-
ble-rate loans. The hedging relationship between the hedged item and the hedg-
ing instruments, as well as the Group’s risk management objective and strategy, is 
documented by the Group upon the inception of the hedging arrangement. The ef-
fectiveness of the hedging relationship is assessed at inception and then at regular 
intervals at least on every reporting day. Changes in the value of the effective share 

of derivatives meeting the hedging conditions are entered in the fair value reserve of 
equity and presented in other comprehensive income. The ineffective portion is rec-
ognised under financial items in the income statement. The cumulative change in 
fair value is transferred from equity and recognised in the income statement for the 
periods in which the hedged item affects the result. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or the hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting, the hedge accounting is terminated. Any accumulat-
ed profit or loss from the hedging instrument remains in equity until the anticipated 
transaction is realised and recognised in the income statement. If the anticipated 
transaction is no longer expected to take place, any profit or loss recognised in equi-
ty is immediately transferred to financial items in the income statement. 

Derivatives that do not meet the conditions set for hedge accounting are classified 
as current assets or liabilities. Changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recog-
nised in financial income and expenses with the exception of commodity derivatives 
which changes in fair values are recognised in other operating income and expenses.

INCOME RECOGNITION PRINCIPLES
Recognition of income from the sale of manufactured goods 
The Group recognises income from the sale of its manufactured products at the 
time when the essential risks and benefits associated with product ownership are 
transferred to the buyer and the Group no longer has any authority or control over the 
product. As a rule, this means the time when the product is handed over to the cus-
tomer in accordance with the agreed terms and conditions of delivery. The fair value 
income received, adjusted for direct taxes, discounts given and exchange rate differ-
ences on foreign currency sales, is presented in the income statement as net sales.

Recognition of income from services 
Income from services is recognised when the outcome of the relevant business 
transaction can be reliably estimated. Recognition is based on the degree of com-
pletion on the closing date. The same rules are applied as for recognition of con-
struction projects under the percentage-of-completion method. 

Recognition of income from construction projects
Percentage of completion
When recognising income from long term construction projects, the Group ob-
serves the percentage of-completion method on the basis of the degree of com-
pletion if the project in question possesses the characteristics of a negotiated con-
tract. In such contracts, the buyer can decide on the primary structural or functional 
characteristics of the project before or during construction. 

The degree of project completion is calculated as the ratio of actually incurred 
costs to estimated total costs. If it is likely that the total costs needed for comple-
tion of a project on the order book will exceed the total income receivable from the 
project, the anticipated loss is immediately recognised in its entirety as an expense.
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When the costs incurred and recognised profits are greater than billing based 
on the project’s progress, the difference is presented in the balance sheet item 
‘Trade and other receivables’. If the costs incurred and recognised profits are less 
than the billing based on the project’s progress, the difference is presented in the 
balance sheet item ‘Accounts payable and other current liabilities’.

In the recognition of income from projects with lease liability commitments, the 
impact of the estimated realisation of these lease liabilities is taken into consideration.

Recognition on completion
Income from own building developments sold is recognised on completion in accord-
ance with delivery principles, because such projects do not fulfil the criteria set for long 
term construction projects; these criteria include bearing the risks and rewards of own-
ership as well as the owner having control, which are not transferred to the buyer while 
construction is still in progress.

Recognition of life-cycle projects 
In life-cycle projects, the operator – that is, the service provider – builds the infra-
structure used for service provision or improves and maintains said infrastructure. 
The Group recognises income from construction and improvement services on the 
basis of the percentage of completion.

Recognition of interest and dividends
Interest income is recognised on a time basis by means of the effective interest rate 
method. Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

VALUATION AND DEPRECIATION OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Tangible assets
The Group companies’ tangible assets are shown on the balance sheet at cost less 
depreciation and impairment. Land is not subject to depreciation. Tangible assets 
are depreciated over their estimated economic lifetimes, which are as follows:

–– Buildings and structures		  10–40 years
–– Machinery and equipment	 4–10 years
–– Mineral aggregate deposits	 depreciation based on material depletion
–– Other tangible assets		  10 years

A tangible asset is subject to depreciation from the time that it is ready for service. 
Depreciation is charged over the period from the asset’s introduction to use until 
the end of its useful economic life. The residual value and economic lifetime of as-
sets are reviewed in connection with the preparation of each set of annual finan-
cial statements and, if necessary, these are adjusted to reflect any changes that 
may have occurred in the economic benefit expected. When depreciation charges 
are made according to plan, the residual value of the asset is zero. 

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment items is discontinued when 
the asset in question is classified as available for sale as defined in IFRS 5, ‘Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’.

Normal maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred. Significant im-
provements or additional investments are capitalised and depreciated over the re-
maining useful economic lifetime of the asset to which they pertain, provided that 
it is likely that the Company will derive future economic benefit from the asset. 
Capital gains on the sale of a tangible asset are presented in ‘Other operating in-
come’, and losses in ‘Other operating expenses’. The Group expenses the interest 
costs of tangible assets’ acquisitions, unless the project meets the requirements 
for capitalisation of borrowing costs, in which case they are capitalised as part of 
the acquisition cost.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill is the amount by which the cost of acquiring a company exceeds the 
Group’s interest in the net fair value of its identifiable assets, liabilities and contin-
gent liabilities at the time of acquisition. Goodwill on consolidation of business op-
erations prior to 2004 is the carrying amount determined in accordance with ear-
lier accounting standards, which is used as the IFRS deemed cost of acquisition. 
Goodwill is not amortised. Goodwill is regularly tested for impairment. In the impair-
ment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units. Goodwill is recognised 
on the balance sheet at cost less impairment, which is expensed on the income 
statement. The holding of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree is measured 
either at fair value or the amount corresponding to the share of the identifiable net 
assets of the acquiree attributable to the non-controlling interests. The measure-
ment principle is specified separately for each acquisition. 

Research and development expenditure
Research and development expenditure is expensed as incurred, with the exception 
of development expenditure satisfying the capitalisation criteria of IAS 38, which is 
recognised on the balance sheet and amortised through profit or loss over its use-
ful economic lifetime.

Other amortised costs
Intangible assets include amortised costs that are not related to tangible assets 
and have economic effects lasting longer than one year. These amortised costs 
include, for example, the costs of making basic repairs to leased premises. These 
costs would be amortised over the term of the lease.

Other intangible rights
Assets such as patents and software licence payments, as well as prepayments re-
lated to them, are also classified as intangible assets. Other intangible assets are 
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recognised at cost on the balance sheet and amortised over their useful economic 
lifetime. The amortisation times of intangible assets are as follows:

–– Software licence payments	 5 years
–– Other intangible rights		  5–10 years

The asset is subject to depreciation from the time that it is ready for service. Depre-
ciation is charged over the time from the asset’s introduction into use until the end 
of its useful economic life. When depreciation charges have been made according 
to plan, the residual value of the asset is zero. 

Financial assistance received
Financial assistance received from the Finnish State or some other public-sector 
source is recognised as income on the income statement at the same time as cor-
responding costs are expensed. Investment grants are deducted from the value of 
the asset in question.

Impairment
The carrying amount of an asset is assessed on each reporting date for determina-
tion of whether there are indications of impairment. If indications of impairment are 
found, the ‘recoverable amount’ for the asset in question is assessed. Annual im-
pairment tests are always made for goodwill. The recoverable amount for an asset 
is either its fair value less costs to sell or, if higher, its value in use. In the measure-
ment of value in use, expected future cash flows are discounted to their present val-
ue with discount rates that reflect the country’s average capital costs before taxes. 
Market risk and non liquidity premiums are taken into consideration in the setting of 
the discount rates. If it is not possible to calculate the recoverable cash flows for an 
individual asset, the recoverable amount for the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs is determined. An impairment loss is recognised on the income state-
ment if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

The carrying amount of an asset is adjusted on the basis of impairment tests 
made annually and whenever it may be concluded that there is need to do so. Good-
will is allocated to cash-generating units in a rational and consistent manner. In the 
impairment tests, the recoverable amount from the business of a cash-generating 
unit is derived from value-in-use calculations using forecast cash flows based on 
comprehensive profitability plans confirmed by the management for a specific peri-
od as well as other justifiable estimates of the future outlook for the cash-generat-
ing unit and its business sector. 

Impairment losses related to tangible assets and intangible assets other than 
goodwill are reversed if the estimates used for determination of the recoverable amount 
of the asset have changed. The biggest reversal allowed equals the carrying amount of 
the asset less depreciation if impairment was not recognised in earlier years.

LEASING AGREEMENTS WHEREIN THE GROUP IS THE LESSEE 
Leasing agreements that pertain to tangible assets in which substantially all risks 
and rewards of ownership are transferred to the Group are classified as finance 
leasing agreements. Finance leasing agreements are recognised as assets on the 
balance sheet at a value equal to the fair value of the leased item on the date of the 
lease’s commencement or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease pay-
ments. Corresponding liability is recognised in current and non-current loans.

Assets leased under finance leasing agreements are depreciated over the useful 
economic lifetime of the asset class or a shorter period as the lifetime of the lease 
elapses, and impairment losses are recognised as required. Annual leasing pay-
ments are divided into financial expenses and debt amortisation instalments over 
the lifetime of the lease so that the same interest rate is applied to the outstanding 
debt in every accounting period.

Leasing agreements in which the rights and risks of ownership are retained by 
the lessor are treated as other leasing agreements. Payments under other leasing 
agreements are treated as leasing expenses, and they are recognised on the income 
statement in equal instalments over the lifetime of the lease.

VALUATION OF INVENTORIES
Flats and other real property included in inventories are recognised on the balance 
sheet at cost or, if lower, their net realisable value. The net realisable value is the es-
timated selling price that may be obtained in an active market in the normal course 
of business, less the costs of selling and the costs necessary for completion of the 
product in question. Materials and supplies are valued according to the FIFO (first-
in, first-out) principle. The value of inventories includes all of the variable costs 
arising from their acquisition and production as well as the proportion of fixed and 
general costs of manufacture that is attributable to them in conditions of normal 
production. The costs of selling are not included in the valuation of inventories at 
cost. Neither are financing costs included in the valuation of inventories at cost, ex-
cept in the case of a project that meets the requirements set for capitalisation of 
borrowing costs.

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value less transaction 
costs, and later at amortised cost. They are subject to impairment testing in con-
nection with the preparation of the annual financial statements. Recognised doubt-
ful receivables are assessed on a case-by-case basis. If there is objective evidence 
that the value of trade or other receivables is impaired, the credit losses are rec-
ognised as an expense on the income statement. When a debtor is in significant 
financial difficulties, any probable bankruptcy, delinquent payments, or payments 
that are more than 90 days overdue constitute evidence of the impairment of the 
trade receivables.
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TREATMENT OF OWN BUILDING DEVELOPMENTS
Expenditure committed to own building developments is capitalised on the balance 
sheet as part of current assets and receivables. Liabilities and prepayments related 
to companies under construction are included in current liabilities.

The share of loans obtained that corresponds to the unsold proportion of flats 
that are still under construction as well as the proportion of loans for completed but 
unsold flats is included in current interest-bearing liabilities.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pension obligations
The pension schemes of Group companies operating in different countries are gen-
erally defined contribution plans. Payments in respect of defined-contribution plans 
are expensed on the income statement for the accounting period to which they ap-
ply. In the case of a defined-benefit plan, a pension liability is recognised to the ex-
tent that the plan gives rise to a pension obligation. If a defined-benefit plan gives 
rise to a pension surplus, it is recognised in prepayments and accrued income on 
the balance sheet.

The pension costs of a defined-benefit plan are measured by means of the pro-
jected unit credit method. The amount of pension liability is calculated by deduction 
of the fair value of the assets belonging to the pension scheme on the balance sheet 
date from the present value of the future pension obligations on the balance sheet 
date. The pension obligations are expensed on the basis of actuarial calculations for 
the duration of employee service. The actuarial gains and losses arising from these 
pension obligations are recognised on the income statement over the expected av-
erage remaining length of service of the participating employees to the extent that 
they exceed 10% of the defined-benefit obligation or, if greater, the fair value of the 
plan’s assets. The discount rate applied is the interest rate payable on low-risk finan-
cial securities with maturities corresponding to the duration of the pension liability.

Management remuneration programmes
The management remuneration programme has three elements: salary and fringe ben-
efits, short term remuneration and long term remuneration. Short term remuneration 
comprises annual performance related bonuses earned for exceeding predefined per-
formance targets. Long term remuneration consists of not only pension remuneration 
but also rewards in the form of shares. The performance targets for share-type rewards 
are always set one year in advance. Any performance related bonuses and share-type 
rewards are paid out in the following year, once the results have been confirmed.

The expenses of other management remuneration programmes are recognised 
on the income statement as personnel expenses as they arise.

PROVISIONS
A provision is made when the Group has a legal or de facto obligation based on 
some past event and it is likely that freedom from liability either would require a 

financial payment or would result in financial loss, and that the amount of liabili-
ty can be reliably measured. Provisions have to do with warranties, onerous work or 
contracts and landscaping and other environmental liabilities. They are generally re-
alised in the beginning or following accounting period and their discounting to pre-
sent value has no essential bearing on the correctness of the financial statements.

Provisions for construction warranties are calculated on the basis of the lev-
el of warranty expenses actually incurred in earlier accounting periods and are rec-
ognised when income from a completed project is recognised on the income state-
ment. If the Group will receive reimbursement from a subcontractor or material 
supplier on the basis of an agreement in respect of anticipated expenses, the future 
compensation is recognised when its receipt is, in practice, beyond doubt.

Provision is made for onerous work or contracts when the amount of expend-
iture required by the agreement to fulfil the obligations exceeds the benefits that 
may be derived from it.

A landscaping provision is made in respect of those sites where landscap-
ing is a contractual obligation. The amount of the provision is based on the use of 
ground materials.

Ten-year liabilities related to own building developments are included as a provi-
sion in the financial statements to the extent that their realisation is considered likely.

In the recognition of income from projects with lease liability commitments, the 
impact of the estimated realisation of these lease liabilities is taken into consideration.

INCOME TAXES
Taxes calculated on the basis of the taxable profit or loss of Group companies for 
the accounting period, adjustments to taxes for earlier accounting periods, and 
change in the deferred tax liability and assets are recognised as taxes on the con-
solidated income statement. The tax effect associated with items recognised di-
rectly in equity is recognised correspondingly in equity.

The change in deferred tax is calculated from the temporary differences be-
tween taxation and accounting, with either the tax rate in force on the balance 
sheet date or a known tax rate that will come into force at a later date. However, a 
deferred tax liability is not recognised in respect of a temporary difference that aris-
es from the initial recognition of an asset or liability (other than from a business 
combination) and affects neither accounting income nor taxable profit. A deferred 
tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is likely that there will be future 
taxable profit against which the temporary difference may be utilised. The most 
significant temporary differences arise from appropriations, the income recognition 
practice for construction projects, internal capital gains from sales, finance leasing 
arrangements, provisions, unused tax losses, measurements of fair value made in 
connection with acquisitions, and pension obligations.

Confirmed tax-deductible losses are treated as a tax asset to the extent that it is 
likely that the Company will be able to utilise them in the near future. Deferred tax is not 
recognised in respect of non-tax-deductible goodwill when it is probable that the tem-
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porary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. A deferred tax liability is rec-
ognised in respect of the undistributed profits of subsidiaries only if payment of the tax 
is expected to be realised in the foreseeable future.

DISTRIBUTION OF DIVIDENDS
The dividend payment proposed by the Board of Directors to a general meeting of 
shareholders is not recognised as a deduction from distributable equity until it has 
been approved by the general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The undiluted earnings per share are calculated by division of the profit for the ac-
counting period attributable to the shareholders of the parent company by the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding during that period. In calculation 
of the diluted earnings per share, the diluting effect stemming from the conversion 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into shares must be taken into account in the 
weighted average number of shares outstanding.

TREASURY SHARES
If the Company or its subsidiaries acquire the Company’s treasury shares, the Com-
pany’s equity is reduced by the amount of consideration paid for the shares plus 
transaction costs after taxes until such time as the treasury shares are cancelled. 
If treasury shares are sold or reissued, the consideration is recognised in equity. No 
gains or losses are recognised in respect of purchases, sales, issuance, or cancella-
tion of the Company’s own equity instruments.

MANAGEMENT JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
The use of judgement and estimates
When preparing the financial statements, the Company’s management have to 
make accounting estimates and assumptions about the future, as well as judge-
ment-based decisions on the application of the accounting principles. These esti-
mates and decisions affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses for the accounting period as well as the recognition of contingent items. 
The estimates and judgements are based on experience-based and other justifiable 
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the prevailing circumstanc-
es. Information on key aspects of the financial statements for which management 
judgement and estimates have been necessary is presented below. 

The Company’s management have had to make judgements when determining 
the economic lifetimes of tangible and intangible assets, and when classifying leas-
es into finance leasing agreements and other leasing agreements. The estimates 
and forward-looking assumptions made on the balance sheet date mainly pertain to 
income recognition in accordance with the percentage of contract completion, the 
recognition of provisions, the valuation of assets belonging to acquired companies 
and their realisability, the formulae used to calculate employee benefits, the fore-

casts and assumptions used in impairment tests, and the setting off of deferred tax 
assets against future taxable profit.

Economic lifetimes of tangible and intangible assets
The management apply estimates and judgements when considering the econom-
ic lifetimes and depreciation methods for productive goods. The factors considered 
in estimation of economic lifetimes include the purpose of a productive asset, the 
effects of wear, maintenance and repair stemming from use of the asset, the dura-
tion of the asset’s technical usability, limitations or obligations arising from leasing 
or other agreements, and the magnitude of any residual value.

Leasing agreements wherein the Group is the lessee
The management have had to make judgements when classifying leasing agree-
ments as either finance leasing agreements or other leasing agreements. The 
classification of leasing agreements is made in accordance with generally accept-
ed standards for definition of finance leasing agreements, and it is based on the 
actual content of the agreement. According to the definition of a finance leas-
ing agreement, essentially all of the economic risks and rewards of ownership are 
transferred to the lessee. The classification is always made at the lease’s incep-
tion. The provisions of a leasing contract can be amended by agreement with the 
lessor, in which case the classification may have to be revised. A change taking 
place in an estimation criterion – e.g., a change in the present value of minimum 
lease payments relative to the fair value of the leased asset – does not constitute 
grounds for reclassification.

Recognition of income from construction projects
When recognising income from long term construction projects, the Group fol-
lows the percentage of completion method on the basis of the extent of comple-
tion if the project in question fulfils the criteria for a negotiated contract. In such 
contracts, the buyer can decide on the primary structural or functional characteris-
tics of the project before or during construction. Costs actually incurred include on-
ly those costs that correspond to work already carried out. Management estimates 
are necessary for reliable determination of the total costs that will be incurred for 
completion of a project. All project costs are itemised and measured as accurate-
ly as possible, to facilitate comparison with earlier values. If the management as-
sess a project to be onerous (i.e., total costs exceed total income), the loss is imme-
diately expensed. If the management are unable to make a reliable determination of 
the total income from a construction project, the income is recognised in accord-
ance with delivery.

Recognition of provisions
On the basis of the historical evidence available, the management estimate wheth-
er it is likely that the settlement of a present obligation will result in an outflow of 
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resources embodying economic benefits from the Group. If such a condition exists 
and a reliable estimate as to the amount and the timing of the obligation can be 
made, then it is recognised as a provision in the financial statements.

Valuation at cost
Valuation of an acquired subsidiary’s shares at cost is based on the fair value of 
its identifiable assets and liabilities. When measuring fair value, the management 
use estimates based on their experience and, if necessary, the assistance of experts 
specialising in the balance sheet items in question. The estimates and assumptions 
made in accordance with the management’s views are sufficiently accurate to en-
sure the correctness of cash flows associated with balance sheet items.

Employee benefits
In calculation of obligations related to employee benefits, the factors requiring 
management estimates include the expected returns on the assets of defined-ben-
efit pension plans, the discount rate used for calculation of pension liabilities and 
pension expenses for the accounting period, the future development of pay levels, 
the rising level of pensions, durations of employee service, and the trend of inflation.

Impairment testing
The carrying amounts of assets are examined by means of impairment tests, which 
are performed at least yearly – and whenever deemed necessary. Goodwill is allo-
cated to cash-generating units in a rational and consistent manner. In impairment 
tests, the amount recoverable from a cash-generating unit’s business is based on 
value-in-use calculations. The cash flow forecasts used for these calculations are 
based on profitability plans approved by the business’s management for a cer-
tain period of time and on other justifiable estimates of the prospects for the busi-
ness sector and the cash-generating unit. In connection with impairment tests, the 
management must estimate whether the fair value of an asset has decreased dur-
ing the accounting period, whether significant adverse changes have occurred in 
the operating environment, whether it is necessary to change the discount rate ap-
plied in value-in-use calculations, and whether the carrying amount of a company’s 
net assets is lower than its fair value. On the basis of these and possibly other indi-
cators both within and outside the Company, the management must continuously 
assess whether there is any need to perform additional impairment tests on asset 
items between the annual tests. A more detailed description of the estimates and 
assumptions concerning goodwill impairment testing is given in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements.

Taxes
The most essential estimate made by the management pertains to the principles 
for recognition of deferred tax assets. The reversal of a tax-deductible temporary 
difference reduces the taxable profit in future accounting periods. The most com-
mon tax-deductible temporary difference between accounting and taxation is a 
confirmed tax loss. The management must judge whether there will be sufficient 
taxable profit in the future for the purpose of making use of remaining tax losses. A 
deferred tax asset arising from unused tax losses is recognised only to the extent of 
the likelihood that there will be future taxable profit against which the unused tax 
losses may be utilised.

The estimates are based on the management’s best judgement, but actual 
outcomes may differ from the estimates used in the financial statements.

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
Standards and interpretations that became effective in 2011
The standards and interpretations that became effective in 2011 have no material 
impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

The following amendments to standards and interpretations have no materi-
al impact on the consolidated financial statements: IFRS 3 (amendments), IFRS 7 
(amendment), IAS 1 (amendment), IAS 24 (revised), IAS 27 (amendment), IAS  32 
(amendment), IAS  34 (amendment), IFRIC  13 (amendment), IFRIC  14 (amend-
ment) and IFRIC 19 (amendment).

Standards and interpretations that became effective at the beginning of 2012
The following amendments to standards and interpretations will have no mate-
rial impact on the consolidated financial statements: IAS 12 (amendment) and 
IFRS 7 (amendment).
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements (IFRS)
1 AMENDMENTS CONCERNING EARLIER FINANCIAL YEARS
The company has adjusted a claim for compensation that was recognised early 
from the assets for the comparison year in 2008. This adjustment diminishes the 
retained earnings by EUR 3.2 million and the trade and other receivables by EUR 
4.4 million and increases deferred tax assets by EUR 1.1 million. The opening bal-
ance sheet dated 1 January 2010 and the notes have been adjusted accordingly. 

2 INFORMATION BY BUSINESS SECTOR
Lemminkäinen Group’s main business sectors were reorganised starting 1.1.2011 to 
three business sectors: building construction, infrastructure construction and tech-
nical building services. Functions outside the business sectors are reported under 
unallocated items. 

Building Construction (Lemminkäinen Talo Oy)
The business sector engages in residential construction, commercial and office con-
struction, industrial and logistics construction, and sports and recreational construction.

Infrastructure Construction (Lemminkäinen Infra Oy)
The business sector engages in the construction and maintenance of road, street and 
railway networks as well as rock, concrete and geotechnical engineering. The compa-
ny has its own asphalt, concrete and mineral aggregate production.

Technical Building Services (Lemminkäinen Talotekniikka Oy)
The company’s business areas are technical building services, technical facility servic-
es and industrial services, and telecommunications network construction. The compa-
ny provides installation, contracting, servicing and maintenance services.

Unallocated items
Unallocated items on the consolidated income statement include expenses that are 
not allocated to the operating segments. Unallocated assets include mainly finan-
cial receivables.

Changes to the consolidated balance sheet

31.12.2010
EUR 1,000

Balance sheet 
before  

adjustment Other changes
Adjusted  

balance sheet
Deferred tax asset 16,275 1,134 17,409

Trade and other receivables 330,335 –4,360 325,975

Assets, total 1,065,252 –3,226 1,062,025

Retained earnings 224,488 –3,226 221,262

Shareholders' equity, total 333,509 –3,226 330,282

Shareholders’ equity and liabilities, total 1,065,252 –3,226 1,062,025
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Operating segments

1.1.–31.12.2011
EUR 1,000

Building
Construction

Infrastructure
Construction

Technical 
Building  
Services

Other
operations Eliminations

Segments
total

Reconciling 
items

Group
total, IFRS

Net sales 894,070 1,178,839 293,887 31,013 –90,434 2,307,375 –33,248 2,274,127

Depreciation and impairment on goodwill 676 35,620 943 3,111 40,350 –2,280 38,070

Operating profit 16,284 63,940 5,205 –16,620 68,809 –15,308 53,501

1.1.–31.12.2010
EUR 1,000

Building
construction 

Infrastructure
construction

Technical 
building  
services

Other
operations Eliminations

Segments
total

Reconciling 
items

Group
total, IFRS

Net sales 770,217 932,904 269,087 11,383 –72,576 1,911,015 –81,453 1,829,562

Depreciation 2,070 34,801 939 958 38,768 –3,722 35,046

Operating profit 25,622 15,276 4,455 –15,634 29,719 –158 29,561

The reconciling items for net sales comprise EUR –29.5 million from the equity share treatment of associates and EUR –3.8 million from discontinued operations.
The reconciling items for operating profit comprise EUR 0.7 million in personnel expenses, EUR 0.3 million from the IFRS treatment of finance leasing, EUR –1.0 million 
from the equity share treatment of associated companies and EUR –15.3 million in other closing entries.

The reconciling items for net sales comprise EUR –18.5 million from the equity share treatment of associates and EUR –62,9 million from discontinued operations.
The reconciling items for operating profit comprise EUR –1.1 million in personnel expenses, EUR 2.5 million from the IFRS treatment of finance leasing, EUR –0.7 million 
from the equity share treatment of associated companies, EUR –1.4 million in other closing entries and EUR 0.5 from discontinued operations. 

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Assets by operating segment

Building Construction 505,503 440,086

Infrastructure Construction 363,656 317,845

Technical Building Services 46,971 44,452

Other operations 50,788 46,217

Segments, total 966,918 848,600

Assets not allocated to segments and group eliminations, total 275,839 213,425

Group total, IFRS 1,242,757 1,062,025
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3 INFORMATION BY MARKET AREA

Geographical segments

1.1.–31.12.2011
EUR 1,000 Finland Other Nordic countries

Eastern Europe and  
the Baltic states Other countries Total

Net sales 1,493,845 525,611 216,115 38,557 2,274,127

Assets 840,589 227,733 145,458 28,977 1,242,757

Investments 43,120 36,402 4,378 77 83,976

1.1.–31.12.2010
EUR 1,000 Finland Other Nordic countries

Eastern Europe and  
the Baltic states Other countries Total

Net sales 1,286,097 327,285 178,351 37,828 1,829,562

Assets 735,555 153,217 142,509 30,744 1,062,025

Investments 32,914 19,420 7,111 134 59,579

Revenues are allocated to segments according to the location of customers and assets according to their geographic location.

4 ACQUIRED BUSINESSES
2011
On 1 January 2011 the capital stock of Ylivieskan Putkiasennus Oy was acquired in 
its entirety. The company is engaged in the installation of heating, piping and ven-
tilation. Acquisition costs allocated to customer accounts and margins of the order 
book were booked in intangible assets in connection with the acquisition. The ac-
quisition entails contingent additional acquisition prices, owing to which the final 
acquisition price will be confirmed within four years of the time of acquisition. The 
current value of the additional acquisition prices was recognised as a liability in the 
balance sheet.

On 26 May 2011 Lemminkäinen acquired Sotkamon Sora ja Sepeli Oy. The 
company is engaged in earth construction, crushing of mineral aggregates and con-
crete, selling mineral aggregates and public road maintenance contracting. The 

goodwill recognised on this acquisition comprises an increase in market share as 
well as cost-savings in procurements, logistics and production. The acquisition 
price will be settled in accordance with the agreed payment programme within 
three years of the time of the acquisition. The current value of the unpaid share was 
recognised as a liability in the balance sheet.

On 31 May 2011 Lemminkäinen acquired Mesta Industri AS. The company spe-
cialises in asphalt and mineral aggregates business. Acquisition costs allocated to 
customer accounts and margins of the order book were booked in intangible as-
sets in connection with the acquisition. The acquisition generated negative good-
will due to assets and liabilities being measured at fair value. The negative goodwill 
was recognised in other income from business operations in the income statement. 
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In the year 2011 the recognised fair values of the acquired business operations after 
merging are presented in the table below.

EUR 1,000
Fair values recognised after 

merging 2011
Assets

Tangible assets 24,629

Intangible assets 1,886

Investments 1,023

Deffered tax asset 4,816

Inventories 7,294

Current receivables 12,665

Cash and cash equivalents 270

Assets, total 52,584

Liabilities

Pension liabilities 2,831

Deferred tax liabilities 359

Provisions 4,740

Loans 396

Other liabilities 18,957

Liabilities, total 27,283

Net assets 25,301

Acquisition price paid in cash 14,361

Share of purchase price booked as liability 641

Acquisition cost, total 15,002

Goodwill –10,298

Recognised in balance sheet goodwill 768

Negative goodwill recognized during the financial –11,067

Transaction price paid in cash 14,361

Cash funds of acquired subsidiary 270

Cash flow effect 14,092

Expensed acquisition expenditure 563

On the consolidation of the acquired business operations, EUR 105.0 million has 
been recognised in net sales and EUR 5.6 million in operating profit. Full-year net 
sales of the acquired business operations in 2011 amounted to about EUR 117.6 
million and operating profit to about EUR –1.0 million. If the acquirees had been 
consolidated as from the beginning of the year, consolidated net sales would have 
been EUR 2,286.8 million and operating profit EUR 46.9 million.

2010
On 21 April 2010, the Company acquired 75,0% of the outstanding in Asfalt Re-
mix AS, a company specialising in the cold milling of asfalt. The goodwill recognised 
on this acquisition comprises an increase in market share as well as cost-savings 
in procurements, logistics and production. In addition, acquisition costs allocat-
ed to customer accounts have beem booked in intangible assets. The acquisition 
includes the option to redeem shares from non-controlling shareholders at a val-
ue based on average post-tax earnings for the past three years and the change in 
shareholders’ equity. The redemption price is determined on the basis of these two 
components to its present value on the closing date and recognised as a liability.

On 9 June 2010, the Company acquired 90.1% of the shares outstanding Risa 
Rock AS and renamed it Lemminkäinen Anlegg AS. The acquiree specialises in tun- 
nel excavation. The goodwill recognised on this acquisiton comprises an increase 
in market share as well as cost-savings in procuremets, logistics and production. In 
addition, acquisition costs allocated to customer accouts and the order book have 
been booked in intangible assets. The acquisition includes the option to redeem 
shares from non-controlling shareholders at a valuea based on average EBITDA over 
a period of four years, adjusted with working capital. The redemption price is deter-
mined on the basis of this component and it iis discounted to its present valuea on 
the closing date and recognised as liability.

On 4 October 2010, the Company acquired all the shares outstanding in UAB 
Žvyrkasyba, a company that owns and sells gravel assets. Most of the consolidation 
difference of this acquisiton is allocates to gravel assets. The recognised goodwill 
comprises synergy benefits and the cost-savings achieved in procurements. 

On 26 October 2010, the Company acquired all the shares outstanding in 
Suonenjoen Sementtituote Oy, a company that manufactures concrete elements 
for construction. The consolidation difference from this acquisition has been allo-
cated to the building transferred in the transaction. The recognised goodwill com-
prises synergy benefits from the acquisition of the company.
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In the year 2010 aggregated information on these acquisitions is presented in the 
following table.

EUR 1,000
Fair values recognised 

 after consolidation 2010
Assets

Tangible assets 7,272

Intangible assets 3,835

Investments 5

Inventories 372

Current receivables 2,125

Cash and cash equivalents 5,147

Assets, total 18,757

Liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities 1,576

Loans 7,019

Other liabilities 2,487

Liabilities, total 11,081

Net assets 7,676

Acquisition price paid in cash 11,384

Discounted present value of the redemption option recognised as a liability 2,071

Acquisition cost, total 13,455

Goodwill, total 5,779

Expensed acquisition expenditure 172

Contingent liabilities recognised on redemption options

Contingent liabilities at time of acquisition 2,870

Contingent liabilities at time of acquisition if predicted to be

10 percentage points higher 3,157

10 percentage points lower	 2,583

On the consolidation of the acquired business operations, EUR 17.4 million has 
been recognised in net sales and EUR 0.6 million in operating profit. Full-year net 
sales of the acquired business operations in 2010 amounted to about EUR 23.0 
million and operating profit to about EUR 0.7 million. If the acquirees had been 
consolidated as from the beginning, consolidated net sales would have been EUR 
1,898.1 million and operating profit EUR 29.2 million.

5 DISCONTINUED BUSINESS OPERATIONS
The Group sold its roofing business to Axcel in January 2011. The Group decided on 
sale in December 2010. Roofing business was categorised as discontinued opera-
tion in the interim report in 31 March 2011. The result of operations of the sold unit, 
the capital gains from its sale and its part of cash flows were as follows: 

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.1. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
The result of the roofing business

Income 3,787 62,936

Expenses –5,642 –63,770

Profit before taxes –1,855 –834

Taxes 482 217

Result for the financial period –1,373 –617

Pre-tax capital gains from the sale of the roofing business 17,114

Taxes –4,449

Capital gains after taxes 12,664

Result for the period from discontinued operations 11,291 –617

Cash flow from business operations –1,904

Cash flow from investments –54

Cash flow from financing 1,958

Cash flows, total 0

EUR 1,000 31.1.2011
The impact of the sale of roofing business to groups’ financial position

Property, plant and equipment 1,986

Receivables 7,909

Inventories 5,245

Accouts payable and other liabilities –4,169

Assets and liabilities, total 10,971

Cash considerations 28,085
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Available-fo-sale non-current assets in 2010
Assets and liabilities related to the roofing business are presented as held for sale af-
ter the Group signed an agreement on 15 December 2010 to sell its roofing business.

EUR 1,000 31.12.2010
Non-current assets held for sale

Property, plant and equipment 1,950

Intangible assets 8

Available-for-sale financial assets 0

Inventories 6,242

Other current assets 5,898

Total 14,097

Liabilities related to non-current assets held for sale

Other current liabilities 4,383

6 INFORMATION ON CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Percentage-of-completion method

Recognition of project income by the percentage-of-completion method 1,833,335 1,639,744
Incurred costs and recognised net profits of work in progress  
(less booked losses) 1,163,371 1,111,954

Payments received in advance (for work not yet done) 10,657 17,149

Gross project-related receivables from clients 55,490 52,841

Gross project-related debts to clients 92,478 79,336

Completed-contract method
Income recognised as revenue on delivery  
from own building developments 276,587 170,965

Inventories recognised from own building developments 170,421 131,755

Advance payments recognised for own building developments 26,331 55,202

Service concession arrangements
In 2011, the Group had one ongoing life-cycle project, Kuopio life-cycle project.

The company established for this life-cycle project, Lemminkäinen PPP Oy (the 
service provider), signed the agreement with Kiinteistö Oy Kuopion koulutilat (the 
financier) on 14 December 2009. The project comprises new construction and ren-
ovation works for four schools and one day-care centre. The service provider is re-
sponsible for building management and maintenance for a period of 25 years. The 
total value of the project is EUR 93.5 million. All construction work in the project 
must be completed by autumn 2013.

7 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Capital gains on sale of tangible assets 6,335 21,336

Capital gains on sale of investments 220 121

Rental income 318 385

Net income from hedging purchases and sales 1,736 23

Financial aid and accident compensation received 661 1,566

Negative goodwill 11,014

Others 436 3,394

20,719 26,824

8 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Capital losses on sale of tangible and intangible assets 173 527

Capital losses on sale of investments 132 2

Voluntary personnel-related expenses 13,162 14,387

Rental expenses 42,169 37,608

Direct acquisiton costs 563 172

Other production expenses 175,771 135,598

Other fixed expenses 60,361 61,175

292,331 249,468

The financier owns the current buildings and land. The service provider will renovate 
the properties and construct new buildings as set out in the turnkey agreement made 
with the financier. The City of Kuopio will gain possession of the buildings after hando-
ver. Lemmikäinen PPP Oy will manage the buildings for about 25 years pursuant to the 
service agreement. Kuopio will serve as the contract agreement client for the sites it fi-
nanced and as the representative of the financier.  The contracts are fixed-price and are 
tied to the cost of construction index and reference rate. The financier will pay the con-
tract prices in instalments as set out in the contract agreements. The service provid-
er shall not have the right to use any of the properties or to organise supplementary use. 

The City of Kuopio shall have the right to terminate the agreement with a six-
month period of notice if the sum of the reductions in usability and service level for 
the 12 months prior to the inspection period at one or more of the properties is no 
less than 50% of the annual service fees of said property/properties. The City of 
Kuopio shall have the right to terminate the agreement after the 10th and 20th 
years of the agreement, that is, in 2021 and 2031.

The service provider shall have the right to terminate the agreement with a six-
month period of notice, if the financier or the City of Kuopio neglect their payment 
obligations for 90 days.
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9 DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Depreciation of tangible assets

Buildings and structures 1,648 2,275

Machinery and equipment 18,298 19,300

Leased assets 10,917 10,079

Other tangible assets 2,953 1,808

33,816 33,463

Depreciation of intangible assets

Software licences 762 765

Other intangible rights 3,350 752

Other intangible assets 70 66

4,182 1,584

Depreciation, total 37,997 35,046

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Impairment

Goodwill 73

10 PERSONNEL AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries 370,839 332,571

Pension expenses 54,926 51,056

Other personnel-related expenses 30,758 27,898

456,523 411,525

Management salaries and emoluments

Salaries and fees paid to Board members and the managing directors 3,944 6,095

Pension expenses are dealt with in greater detail in section 23 of the notes and 
management remuneration schemes in section 33.

11 SHARE OF THE RESULTS OF ASSOCIATES

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Share of the results of associates

Share of the profits of associates 1,881 884

Share of the losses of associates –13 –141

1,867 743

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Shares in associates 1.1. 7,605 6,251

Translation difference 38 358

Increases 1,942 1,381

Decreases –294 –385

Shares in associates 31.12. 9,291 7,605

1.1.–31.12. 
2011

1.1.–31.12. 
2010

Average number of employees

Salaried staff 2,932 2,913

Hourly paid workers 5,489 5,401

8,421 8,314

Personnel by business segment

Building Construction 2,228 2,063

Infrastructure Construction 3,914 4,000

Technical Building Services 2,017 2,060

Parent company 261 191

8,421 8,314

Pension commitments
The members of Lemminkäinen Group’s Executive Board can retire at 60 years of 
age. The members of the Executive Board are Lemminkäinen Corporation’s Presi-
dent and CEO, Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President, Human Resources 
and Information Technology, Executive Vice President, Corporate Business Devel-
opment, as well as the heads of the business sectors.
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Major associates  (information presented in full)

EUR 1,000 Group’s ownership, % Assets Liabilities Net sales Result for the financial year
2011

Finavo Oy, Finland 47.5 2,289 1,179 453

Genvej A/S, Denmark 50.0 607 158 247 55

Martin Haraldstad AS, Norway 50.0 9,297 3,921 7,745 1,035

Nordasfalt AS, Norway 50.0 17,647 10,717 36,529 2,157

Ullensaker Asfalt ANS, Norway 50.0 3,266 206 14,446 190

2010

Finavo Oy, Finland 47.5 1,075 1,059 5,475 –1

Genvej A/S, Denmark 50.0 587 217 417 24

Martin Haraldstad AS, Norway 50.0 9,266 4,956 6,133 834

Nordasfalt AS, Norway 50.0 12,898 8,166 24,888 487

Ullensaker Asfalt ANS, Norway 50.0 3,121 343 5,599 –283

12 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Financial income

Interest income from loans and receivables 2,287 2,549

Interest incom from available-for-sale financial assets 53

Dividend income from available-for-sale financial assets 96 155

Capital gains from available-for-sale financial assets 75

Foreign exchange rate gains 8,670 16,523

Gains on the change in fair value of interest rate derivatives 421

Other financial income 264 118

Financial income, total 11,446 19,765

Financial expenses

Interest expenses for financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost 17,375 15,449

Foreign exchange rate losses 11,076 17,351

Losses on the change in fair value of interest rate derivatives –343 607

Other financial expenses 2,823 8,811

Financial expenses, total 30,931 42,219

Capitalisation of borrowing costs of qualifying assets –565 –484

Financial expenses, total 30,366 41,735

Financial income and expenses, total –18,920 –21,969

Exchange rate differences recognised  
in the income statement

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Exchange rate differences on sales 29 1,249

Exchange rate differences on purchases 435 1,185

Exchange rate differences on financial items –2,405 –829

Exchange rate differences, total –1,941 1,605
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13 TAXES
The taxes of Finnish Group companies for their result for the 2011 financial year 
were recognised at the tax rate of 26%, which was the corporate tax rate in force 
on the balance sheet date. Deferred tax was recognised in Finnish companies with a 
tax rate of 24.5%, which was approved by Parliament on 13 December 2011 as the 
new corporate tax rate.

Income taxes

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Income taxes on normal business operations –3,620 –9,854

Income taxes in respect of previous years –684 –1,137

Deferred taxes –5,997 5,171

–10,301 –5,819

Reconciliation of taxes on the income statement and taxes calculated at the Finnish tax rate

Result before taxes 34,581 7,592

Taxes calculated on the above at the Finnish tax rate –8,991 –1,974

Differing tax rates of foreign subsidiaries –1 –426

Tax-exempt income in income statement 3,047 137

Non-deductible expenses in income statement –3,519 –1,683

Deductible non-income statement items 334 353

Taxable non-income statement items –375 –733

Use of unrecognised earlier tax losses 69

Loss-making results for the financial year –162

Effect of change in the corporate tax rate –52

Other items –62 –265

Taxes for the previous financial year –684 –1,137

Taxes on the income statement, total –10,301 –5,819

Deferred taxes

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Deferred tax assets

Internal margin on fixed assets 469 544

Landscaping provision 610 702

Confirmed losses 15,124 10,700

Fair valuation 308 510

Other temporary differences 2,846 4,953

19,356 17,409

Deferred tax liabilities

Accumulated depreciation differences 12,587 9,654

Revaluations 775 823

Recognition of income from long term projects 4,337 2,821

Fair valuation 1,959 2,042

Other temporary differences 2,068 2,238

21,727 17,577

According to Group strategy, it will be possible to utilise the deferred tax assets rec-
ognised from losses, EUR 15.1 million (EUR 10.7 million in 2010) in full from future 
taxable profit. In 2011, EUR 0.3 million (EUR 0.2 million in 2010) of deferred tax 
assets was left unrecognised from tax losses.

No deferred tax liability is recognised in respect of the undistributed profits of for-
eign subsidiaries because the funds are permanently invested in operations abroad.

Other comprehensive income items

EUR 1,000 Before taxes Taxes After taxes
2011

Translation difference –811 –811

Cash flow hedges 771 –200 570

Fair value change –17 4 –12

–57 –196 –253

2010

Translation difference 3,894 3,894

Hedging of net investments 622 –162 460

Cash flow hedges 17 –4 12

4,532 –166 4,366
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15 TANGIBLE ASSETS

EUR 1,000 Land
Buildings and

structures
Machinery and

equipment
Other

tangible assets

Advance
payments and 

work in progress Total
Acquisition cost, 1.1.2011 13,499 50,611 343,638 38,651 2,558 448,958

Translation difference 9 34 192 43 0 279

Increases 323 560 38,653 2,978 4,831 47,344

Increases from acquired businesses 2,085 475 18,163 5,577 26,300

Decreases –2,041 –2,051 –50,932 –3,473 –367 –58,863

Transfers between items –271 1,198 274 –1,205 –4

Acquisition cost, 31.12.2011 13,604 49,631 350,912 44,051 5,817 464,014

Accumulated depreciation, 1.1.2011 –33,809 –218,780 –21,110 –273,699

Translation difference –45 –116 –35 –196
Accumulated depreciation 
 on increases –1 –87 –87
Accumulated depreciation  
on decreases 1,971 45,642 3,353 50,967

Depreciation for the financial year –1,648 –29,215 –2,953 –33,816
Accumulated depreciation, 
31.12.2011 –33,532 –202,555 –20,745 –256,832

Carrying amount, 31.12.2011 13,604 16,099 148,357 23,305 5,817 207,182

Carrying amount, 1.1.2011 13,499 16,802 124,858 17,541 2,558 175,259

14 DIVIDENDS PAID AND PROPOSED

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Dividend paid during the financial year

Per share for the previous year, EUR 0.50 0.00

In total for the previous year, EUR 1,000 9,822 0.00

Proposed for approval by the AGM

Per share for the financial year, EUR 0.50 0.50

In total for the financial year, EUR 1,000 9,822 9,822
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EUR 1,000 Land
Buildings and

structures
Machinery and

equipment
Other tangible

assets
Advance payments  

and work in progress Total
Acquisition cost, 1.1.2010 13,369 55,461 351,275 34,499 3,671 458,275

Translation difference 59 224 2,513 302 15 3,114

Increases 114 1,315 26,033 2,810 2,113 32,385

Increases from acquired businesses 32 1,645 5,065 1,175 7,917

Decreases –42 –4,858 –33,915 –392 –1,357 –40,563

Discontinued operations –54 –1,935 –10,052 –136 –12,177

Transfers between items 21 –1,242 2,720 257 –1,749 7

Acquisition cost, 31.12.2010 13,499 50,611 343,638 38,651 2,558 448,958

Accumulated depreciation, 
1.1.2010 –34,798 –219,474 –19,390 –273,661

Translation difference –200 –1,860 –169 –2,229
Accumulated depreciation  
on increases –112 –397 –10 –519
Accumulated depreciation  
on decreases 2,344 23,218 383 25,945
Accumulated depreciation from 
discontinued operations 1,228 8,999 10,227

Transfers between items 3 114 –117
Depreciation for the financial year 
from continued and discontinued 
operations –2,275 –29,379 –1,808 –33,463
Accumulated depreciation, 
31.12.2010 –33,809 –218,780 –21,110 –273,699

Carrying amount, 31.12.2010 13,499 16,802 124,858 17,541 2,558 175,259

Carrying amount, 1.1.2010 13,369 20,664 131,801 15,109 3,671 184,613

The Group has no capitalised interest expenses.

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Assets acquired under finance lease agreement are included in machinery and equipment as follows:

Acquisition cost, 1.1. 119,243 114,022

Translation difference 135 711

Increases 15,822 9,064

Decreases –34,475 –4,554

Acquisition cost, 31.12. 100,725 119,243

Accumulated depreciation, 31.12. –43,670 –65,380

Carrying amount, 31.12. 57,055 53,863
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

EUR 1,000 Goodwill Intangible rights
Other capitalised

expenditure Advance payments Total
Acquisition cost, 1.1.2011 84,847 8,798 8,492 5,978 108,116

Translation difference 150 –1 27 176

Increases 32 1,103 955 5,507 7,598

Increases from acquired businesses 736 8 1,880 2,624

Decreases –579 –5 –827 –1,411

Transfers between items 770 6,691 –7,457 4

Acquisition cost, 31.12.2011 85,766 10,099 18,041 3,202 117,108

Accumulated depreciation, 1.1.2011 –6,707 –2,155 –8,861

Translation difference 1 –11 –11

Accumulated depreciation on decreases	 424 424

Depreciation for the financial year –832 –3,350 –4,182

Impairments –73 –73

Accumulated depreciation, 31.12.2011 –73 –7,114 –5,516 –12,703

Carrying amount, 31.12.2011 85,693 2,985 12,526 3,202 104,405

Carrying amount, 1.1.2011 84,847 2,092 6,338 5,978 99,255

EUR 1,000 Goodwill Intangible rights
Other capitalised

expenditure Advance payments Total
Acquisition cost, 1.1.2010 78,265 8,035 2,125 193 88,618

Translation difference 803 1 31 835

Increases 895 6,453 5,954 13,302

Increases from acquired businesses 5,779 76 5,856

Decreases –380 –73 –453

Discontinued operations –12 –22 –35

Transfers between items 183 –21 –169 –7

Acquisition cost, 31.12.2010 84,847 8,798 8,492 5,978 108,116

Accumulated depreciation, 1.1.2010 –6,233 –1,422 –7,656

Translation difference –67 18 –49

Accumulated depreciation on increases –10 –10

Accumulated depreciation on decreases 359 51 411

Accumulated depreciation from discontinued operations 10 17 27
Depreciation for the financial year from continued  
and discontinued operations –765 –818 –1,584

Accumulated depreciation, 31.12.2010 –6,707 –2,155 –8,861

Carrying amount, 31.12.2010 84,847 2,092 6,338 5,978 99,255

Carrying amount, 1.1.2010 78,265 1,802 703 193 80,963
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Goodwill impairment tests are made at least once a year and whenever there are indications of possible impairment. The tests are carried out as value-in-use calculations of in-
dividual businesses in accordance with the smallest cash-generating unit principle. The calculations are prepared in accordance with the management’s estimates of business 
development and the future outlook. The management’s estimates are based on its knowledge and long experience of the Company’s business sectors as well as on develop-
ment forecasts generally available for them.

Goodwill is allocated to the following operating segments:

EUR 1,000 Finland
Other 

Nordic countries
Eastern Europe and 

 the Baltic states
Market areas,

 total
Common to 
segment ¹) Total

31.12.2011

Building Construction 5,840 244 587 6,671 6,671

Infrastructure Construction 12,069 16,094 1,322 29,485 23,986 53,471

Technical Building Services 25,550 25,550 25,550

43,459 16,338 1,909 61,707 23,986 85,693

EUR 1,000 Finland
Other 

Nordic countries
Eastern Europe and 

the Baltic states
Market areas, 

total
Common to 
segment ¹) Total

31.12.2010

Building Construction 5,856 244 660 6,760 6,760

Infrastructure Construction 11,098 16,261 1,322 28,681 23,903 52,584

Technical Building Services 25,503 25,503 25,503

42,456 16,506 1,982 60,944 23,903 84,847

¹)	T he goodwill reported in the ”Common to segment” column has arisen from the acquisition of Danish and Norwegian asphalt businesses. It is allocated to the whole paving and mineral aggregates cash generating unit because 
it is Lemminkäinen’s strategy to operate broadly in countries of the Baltic Rim region. This goodwill has been tested at the level of the whole paving and mineral aggregates cash generating unit, in addition to which the goodwill 
allocated to each business area of infrastructure Construction has been tested separately for each country.

In impairment testing the discounted present value of the recoverable cash flows 
of each cash-generating unit is compared with the carrying amount of the unit in 
question. If the present value is lower than the carrying amount, the difference is 
recognised through profit or loss as an expense in the current year.

Cash flow statements of the business units are prepared for a planning period 
covering the next 5 years in accordance with the management’s estimates. Cash 
flow forecasting beyond that planning period is cautious and based on the assump-
tion that there will be no real growth of the business.

The Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC), calculated for each individu-
al unit, is used as the discount factor. WACC takes into account the risk-free in-
terest rate, the liquidity premium, the expected market rate of return, the indus-
try’s beta value, and the debt interest rate, including the interest rate margin. These 
components are weighted according to the fixed, average target capital structure 
of the sector. Pre-tax WACC is determined unit-specifically in testing.  In the tests 
for 2011, long term risk-free interest rate levels remained exceptionally low as in-
vestors sought safety from government bonds with good credit rating, keeping dis-
count rates at a low level. In addition, the interest rate margin of liabilities was lower 
compared with the previous year.
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The sector-specific weighted averages of the key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations: ¹)

Building Construction Infrastructure Construction Technical Building Services
2011

Discount rate, % (before taxes) 7.3 7.4 7.5

Average growth rate of net sales, % 11.5 3.7 4.5

Long term average growth rate, % 1.0 1.0 1.0

2010 2)

Discount rate, % (before taxes) 7.8 8.3 8.1

Average growth rate of net sales, % 6.1 6.4 6.5

Long term average growth rate, % 1.0 1.0 1.0

¹) 	T he figures should not be regarded as forecasts for the entire business sector since the averages are calculated for only the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The differences in the size of the cash-
generating units are taken into account by weighting the figures according to the net sales of units when calculating the average. The forecasts are based on cautious outlooks so as to ensure the reliability of the test results.

²) 	The figures for the comparative period adjusted according to the new group structure in effect from 2011.

Lemminkäinen recognised an impairment of goodwill of less than EUR 0.1 million 
in connection with testing in the third quarter of 2011 in relation to the decision to 
shut down the company in the Talo business sector that carried on project manage-
ment operations in Hungary. For the other cash generating units, goodwill impair-
ment tests made during the third quarter of 2011 indicated that the present value of 
cash flows exceeded the carrying amount in all of the business units. Therefore there 
was no need to recognise any further impairment of goodwill.

In connection with the impairment tests, sensitivity analyses are made to de-
termine how possible changes in key assumptions of the unit-specific impairment 
tests would affect the results of those tests. The key assumptions affecting the pre-
sent value of cash flows are the development of market and competitive conditions, 
the scope and profitability of the tested business, and the discount factor. In the 
sensitivity analyses the calculation variables affecting these assumptions are varied 
and the effects of the changes on the margin between the carrying value and pre-
sent value of the cash flows are examined.

The sensitivity analyses indicated that variations in key assumptions considered 
generally relevant, reasonable and customary for Lemminkäinen’s business sectors 
would not give rise to the need for impairment. Most of the Group’s goodwill is al-
located to the Infrastructure Construction business sector due to its acquisition of 
Nordic paving operations as well as to the Technical Building Services business sec-
tor. The margins between the present value and carrying amount of the cash flows 
of the Nordic paving operations of Infrastructure Construction and of the Techni-
cal Building Services business sector are large, and not even major changes in the 
outlook would be enough to necessitate goodwill impairment. Of the cash-generat-
ing units tested, the Lithuanian paving operations are showing the greatest sensitiv-
ity, with impairment risk allocated for a share of EUR 0.8 million of goodwill if pros-
pects weaken or the interest rate rises considerably. If necessary, additional tests will 
be carried out if the results of sensitivity analyses and changes in the outlook give 
cause. The long term predictability of Lemminkäinen’s business sectors is reasona-
bly good and the goodwill impairment risk small in all business cycles.
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Figures describing the goodwill impairment risk of units subject to impairment testing by business sector

EUR 1,000 Building Construction Infrastructure Construction Technical Building Services
2011

Goodwill allocated to the business sector, total 6,671 53,471 25,550

Ratio of present value to carrying amount ¹) 4.92 3.22 3.60

Goodwill impairment if annual growth over the

long term were 1 percentage point lower 0 0 0

long term were 2 percentage points lower 0 996 0

Goodwill impairment if the borrowing cost

were 1 percentage point higher 0 0 0

were 2 percentage points higher 0 202 0

EUR 1,000 Building Construction Infrastructure Construction Technical Building Services
2010 ²)

Goodwill allocated to the business sector, total 6,760 52,584 25,503

Ratio of present value to carrying amount ¹) 4.67 3.24 15.76

Goodwill impairment if annual growth over the

long term were 1 percentage point lower 492 0 0

long term were 2 percentage points lower 492 0 0

Goodwill impairment if the borrowing cost

were 1 percentage point higher 492 0 0

were 2 percentage points higher 492 0 0

¹) 	N et-sales-weighted average of the business sector’s cash-generating units subject to impairment testing. Ratio less than 1 would lead to impairment.
²) 	The figures for the comparative period adjusted according to the new group structure in effect from 2011.
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17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY CLASS

EUR 1,000 Note

Financial assets/  
liabilities recognised 
at fair value through 

profit and loss
Loans and   

receivables
Available-for-sale 

financial assets

Financial liabilities 
recognised  

at amortised cost

Derivatives  
subject to hedge  

accounting
Balance sheet  

value Fair value
31.12.2011

Non-current financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 18 5,992 5,992 5,992

Other non-current receivables 20 4,765 4,765 4,765

Current financial assets

Trade and other receivables 20 407,023 407,023 407,023

Derivative contracts 20 264 264 264

Cash and cash equivalents 21 30,395 30,395 30,395

Financial assets total 264 442,183 5,992 448,439 448,439

Non-current financial liabilities

Loans 25 194,643 194,643 190,698

Other non-current liabilities 26 3,226 3,226 3,226

Current financial liabilities

Loans 25 236,968 236,968 236,968
Accounts payable and other 
financial liabilities ¹) 26 279,209 279,209 279,209

Derivative contracts 26 1,192 1,244 2,436 2,436

Financial liabilities total 1,192 714,047 1,244 716,483 712,538

 ¹) Accounts payable and other financial liabilities do not include statutory obligations or prepayments received, as these are not classified as financial liabilities under IFRS.
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EUR 1,000 Note

Financial assets/  
liabilities recognised 
at fair value through 

profit and loss
Loans and   

receivables
Available-for-sale  

financial assets

Financial liabilities 
recognised  

at amortised cost

Derivatives 
subject to hedge 

accounting
Balance sheet 

value Fair value
31.12.2010

Non-current financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets 18 6,410 6,410 6,410

Other non-current receivables 20 7,175 7,175 7,175

Current financial assets

Trade and other receivables 20 325,576 325,576 325,576

Derivative contracts 20 399 399 399

Cash and cash equivalents 21 26,348 26,348 26,348

Financial assets total 399 359,099 6,410 365,908 365,908

Non-current financial liabilities

Loans 25 214,134 214,134 211,428

Other non-current liabilities 26 3,882 3,882 3,882

Current financial liabilities

Loans 25 161,381 161,381 161,381
Accounts payable and other 
financial liabilities ¹) 26 192,543 192,543 192,543

Derivative contracts 26 1,756 2,040 3,796 3,796

Financial liabilities total 1,756 571,939 2,040 575,735 573,030

 ¹) Accounts payable and other financial liabilities do not include statutory obligations or prepayments received, as these are not classified as financial liabilities under IFRS.						    
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Measurement of fair values
Other non-current receivables include interest-bearing loan receivables, and their balance sheet values correspond to their fair values. The carrying amount of trade and other receivables 
is equal to their fair value due to their short maturity. The fair value of the bond included in non-current liabilities is based on the market price, and the fair value of other non-current lia-
bilities has been calculated through discounting of the future cash flows to the present value by the interest that the Group would receive on corresponding loans on the accounting date, 
consisting of the risk-free interest rate plus a risk premium. The discount interest rates used vary between 2.5 and 4.5% (2.8 to 4.1%). The balance sheet value of current financial liabil-
ities is assumed to be close to their fair value.
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a fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value 

EUR 1,000 Level 2 Level 3 Total
31.12.2011

Assets

Derivative receivables 105 159 264

Liabilities

Derivative liabilities 2,436 - 2,436

EUR 1,000 Level 2 Level 3 Total
31.12.2010

Assets

Derivative receivables 113 286 399

Liabilities

Derivative liabilities 981 2,816 3,796

The Group has classified financial instruments recognised at fair value by using a three-level hierarchy of fair values. Financial instruments belonging to Level 1 are sub-
ject to active trading on the market, and, therefore, their fair values are available from active and efficient markets. The fair values of instruments recorded at Level 2 are based 
on verifiable market data and generally accepted valuation methods but are not directly quoted on the markets. Fair values at Level 3 are based not on verifiable market data 
but on quotations provided by brokers and market valuation reports.
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Level 3 reconciliation statement

EUR 1,000
Financial instruments recognised  
at fair value through profit or loss

Financial instruments recognised
at fair value through other comprehensive income items

Fair values 1.1.2011 –487 –2,040

Transfers from/to Level 3 607 2,040

Gains and losses, total

on the income statement 40

on the statement of comprehensive income

Fair values 31.12.2011 159

EUR 1,000
Financial instruments recognised  
at fair value through profit or loss

Financial instruments recognised
at fair value through other comprehensive income items

Fair values 1.1.2010 –421 –2,815

Transfers from/to Level 3

Total gains and losses

in the income statement –67 315

in comprehensive income 460

Fair values 31.12.2010 –487 –2,040

18 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Balance sheet value, 1.1. 6,410 6,582

Translation difference 0 0

Increases 961 7

Change in fair value 17

Decreases –1,378 –196

Transferred for sale 0

Balance sheet value, 31.12. 5,992 6,410

Available-for-sale financial assets include non-quoted shares. The fair value of un-
quoted shares cannot be reliably determined, and thus they are presented at cost 
less impairment.

19 INVENTORIES

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Materials and supplies 42,774 39,941

Building plots and real estate 123,441 107,346

Housing under construction 90,779 68,297

Commercial property under construction 39,428 21,698

Work in progress 28,157 32,437

Prepayments 9,083 8,717

Completed housing companies 65,667 44,154

Completed commercial property 6,256 10,528

Products and goods 42,883 42,889

448,467 376,005

Transferred to non-current assets held for sale –6,242

448,467 369,763

Collateral notes for uncompleted properties included in inventories are used as col-
lateral security for the debts of companies included in inventories to the value of 
EUR 82.0 million (EUR 62.1 million in 2010). 
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There is a statement reconciling the difference between the opening and closing balances for the fair-valued financial instruments recognised at fair value recorded in Level 
3. The changes that occurred during the period are presented separately in the reconciliation statement.
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20 NON-CURRENT AND CURRENT RECEIVABLES

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Non-current receivables

Interest-bearing

Loan receivables 4,264 5,784

Other receivables 131

4,264 5,915

Non-interest-bearing

Trade receivables 501 238

Other receivables 1,022

501 1,260

Non-current trade and other receivables, total 4,765 7,175

Current receivables

Interest-bearing

Loan receivables 202 944

Non-interest-bearing

Trade receivables 264,640 207,145

Project income receivables 73,486 69,724

Interest receivables 355 591

Personnel expenses 2,311 2,892

Capitalised financial expenses 111

Other prepayments and accrued income 34,568 21,690

Receivables from derivative instruments 264 399

Receivables from real estate companies under construction 1,364 10,273

Other receivables 30,095 18,103

407,085 330,928

Transferred to non-current assets held for sale –5,898

Current trade and other receivables, total 407,287 325,975

Non-current loan receivables include mainly receivables from Tieyhtiö Ykköstie Oy. 
The balance sheet values of current and non-current interest-bearing loan receiv-
ables correspond to their fair values. Trade receivables amounting to EUR 0.2 mil-
lion (EUR 1.4 million in year 2010) were recognised as credit losses during the fi-
nancial year. 

21 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Cash in hand and at banks 30,395 26,348

Cash and cash equivalents comprise bank account balances and liquid deposits 
with maturities of less than three months made in solvent partner banks.
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22 NOTES CONCERNING SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
Shares and share capital
Lemminkäinen Corporation has one share class. On 31 December 2010, the Company had 19,644,764 shares. All issued shares are fully paid up. The Group does not pos-
sess any treasury shares.

The Board of Directors was authorised to decide on an issue of 1,576,486 shares on 31 December 2011. The authorisation is valid for five years after the conclusion of 
the general meeting held on 12 November 2009, at which the original authorisation was granted.  

Share premium account
Share premiums are recognised in the share premium account.

Invested non-restricted equity fund
The invested non-restricted equity fund includes the subscription prices of shares 
to the extent that they are not entered into share capital on the basis of a sepa-
rate decision. 

Translation differences and hedging reserve
The translation differences include the differences arising from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign units. Gains and losses on hedges of net invest-
ments in foreign units are also included in the translation differences when the re-
quirements set for hedge accounting are met.

Changes in the effective part of derivatives falling within the scope of hedge 
accounting are recognised in the hedging reserve.

EUR 1,000
Number of shares  

(1,000 shares) Share capital Share premium account
Invested unrestricted  

equity reserve Total
1.1.2010 17,021 34,043 5,750 39,793

Share issue to investors for cash consideration 1,700 39,525 39,525
Share issue to non-controlling interest for cash 
consideration 924 24,335 24,335

Transaction expenses of share issues –716 –716

31.12.2010 19,645 34,043 5,750 63,144 102,937

Transfers between funds –76 76

31.12.2011 19,645 34,043 5,675 63,220 102,937

EUR 1,000
Translation 

difference
Hedging  

reserve Total
1.1.2010 –1,698 –1,970 –3,668

Translation difference 3,894 3,894

Cash flow hedge 460 460

31.12.2010 2,196 –1,510 686

Translation difference –811 –811

Cash flow hedge 570 570

31.12.2011 1,385 –940 445

Retained earnings

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Retained earnings, 1.1. 221,561 231,285

Result for the financial year 34,720 299

Dividends paid –9,822

Direct entries, minority acquisition –1,147 –10,105

Cancellation of dividend liability 82

Retained earnings, 31.12. 245,311 221,561

Share of appropriations in retained earnings, 31.12 26,379 22,170
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23 PENSION OBLIGATIONS

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year

Beginning of year 21,776 15,941

Translation difference 78 703

Current service cost 1,133 1,894

Past service cost 2,141

Interest cost 751 808

Actuarial losses and gains –2,378 1,461

Gains/losses from curtailments of benefit arrangement –6,627 –742

Benefits paid –795 –430

Increases from acquired businesses 7,736

End of year 21,674 21,776

The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year

Beginning of year 15,961 12,553

Translatation difference 57 531

Expected return on plan assets 586 750

Actuarial losses and gains –2,131 –327

Curtailment –5,179

Employer contributions 2,399 2,641

Benefits paid –790 –185

Increases from acquired businesses 2,472

End of year 13,376 15,961

Present value of funded obligations 21,674 21,776

Fair value of funds –13,376 –15,961

8,298 5,815

Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses –2,581 –5,822

Unrecognised costs of past service –1,845 –474

Defined benefit pension plan obligation (+) / asset (–) 3,872 –481

Pension plan obligations on the balance sheet 3,872 508

Pension plan assets on the balance sheet –989

The pension plan assets are recognised as a deferred income on the balance sheet. 

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Assets and liabilities related to the plans over five years

Defined benefit obligation 21,674 21,776 15,941 12,419 11,255

Fair value of plan assets –13,376 –15,961 –12,553 –10,164 –9,911

8,298 5,815 3,388 2,254 1,344

The pension schemes of group companies operating in different countries are gen-
erally defined contribution plans. Payments in respect of defined contribution plans 
are expensed on the income statement in the accounting period during which they 
are made. Group pensions for which the present value of the associated obligations 
is determined by a method based on future benefits and for which the funds be-
longing to the plan are fair valued on the accounting date are classified as defined 
benefit pension plans. The actuarial gains and losses arising from these pension 
provisions are recognised on the income statement over the expected average re-
maining working lives of the participating employees to the extent that it exceeds 
10% of the present value of the defined benefit obligation or, if greater, 10% of the 
fair value of plan’s assets.

Payments to be made to defined benefit pension plans in Lemminkäinen Group 
during 2012 are estimated at EUR 1.9 million. 

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Recognised expenses relating to defined benefit pension plans

Pension costs based on service in the financial year 1,133 1,894

Interest cost of obligation stemming from benefits 751 808

Expected yield on funds belonging to the plan –312 –750

Actuarial gains and losses –379 910

Costs based on past service –317

1,192 2,545
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EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 Finland 31.12.2011 Abroad 31.12.2010 Finland 31.12.2010 Abroad
The most important actuarial assumptions

Discount rate, % 4.5 3.3 4.8 4.4

Expected yield on funds, % 5.8 4.6 6.0 5.6

Future pay rise assumption, % 3.5 3.8 3.5 4.0

Future pension rise assumption, % 2.1 0.9 2.1 1.3

Inflation rate, % 2.0 2.5 2.0 3.8

24 PROVISIONS

EUR 1,000 Warranty provisions Landscaping provisions Other provisions Total 31.12.2011 Total 31.12.2010
Provisions, 1.1. 6,100 864 1,756 8,720 10,033

Translation differences 1 1 3 5 24

Increases in provisions 1,417 75 3,215 4,707 2,651

Expensed provisions –2,252 –647 –1,540 –4,439 –2,951

Reversals of unused provisions –4 –13 –17 –1,037

Purchases and sales of subsidiaries 2,843 1,899 4,743

Provisions, 31.12.2011 8,105 2,180 3,434 13,719

Provisions, 31.12.2010 6,100 864 1,756 8,720

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Provisions categorised as

Long term 6,224 2,283

Short term 7,495 6,437

13,719 8,720

A provision is made when the Group has a legal or de facto obligation based on some past event and it is likely that freedom from liability will either require a financial pay-
ment or result in financial loss, and that the amount of liability can be reliably measured. 

Provisions for construction warranties are calculated on the basis of the level of warranty expenses actually incurred in earlier accounting periods. If the Group will re-
ceive reimbursement from a subcontractor or material supplier on the basis of an agreement in respect of anticipated expenses, the future compensation is recognised 
when its receipt is in practice beyond doubt. Provisions in respect of landscaping obligations are made according to the use of ground materials.
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25 LOANS

EUR 1,000
31.12.2011  

Balance sheet values
31.12.2011 
Fair values

31.12.2010  
Balance sheet values

31.12.2010 
Fair values

Non-current

Loans from credit institutions 44,213 43,306 39,871 39,871

Pension loans 44,116 41,696 70,755 68,980

Finance lease liabilities 46,257 46,257 42,944 42,944

Bonds 59,763 59,145 60,000 59,070

Other non-current liabilities 295 295 564 564

194,643 190,698 214,134 211,428

Current

Loans from credit institutions 20,246 20,246 15,169 15,169

Pension loans 22,759 22,759 19,035 20,390

Finance lease liabilities 12,897 12,897 11,726 11,726

Chequing accounts 7,171 7,171 8,663 8,663

Commercial papers 119,910 119,910 75,100 74,679
Liabilities of housing companies 
under construction 53,939 53,939 30,851 30,851

Other current loans 46 46 837 837

236,968 236,968 161,381 162,315

Measurement of fair values of loans is explained in Note 17.

Loans by currency

EUR 1,000
31.12.2011

Non-current loans
31.12.2011

Current loans
31.12.2010

Non-current loans
31.12.2010

Current loans 
EUR 158,107 218,376 195,008 148,262

DKK 7,888 6,124 9,287 4,924

EEK 537 236

LTL 11 3 32 2,992

NOK 28,637 9,030 9,269 4,670

SEK 3,436 297

194,643 236,968 214,134 161,381
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Finance lease liabilities

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Finance leasing debts and interest on them is due as follows

In one year or earlier 14,787 13,455

Over one year, but less than five years 40,239 35,339

Over five years 10,479 12,193

65,505 60,988

Present value of minimum leases

In one year or earlier 12,897 11,726

Over one year, but less than five years 36,343 31,516

Over five years 9,914 11,428

59,154 54,670

Accumulated future financial expenses from finance leasing debts 6,351 6,318

26 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Non-current

Other non-current liabilities 3,226 3,882

Accounts payable and other current liabilities

Prepayments received 99,406 102,777

Debts to owners of housing under construction 7,226 15,228

Accounts payable 101,127 69,257

Project expenses 36,644 17,400

VAT 35,331 21,222

Interest debts 1,616 1,275

Amortisations of personnel expenses 85,913 68,327

Other accrued liabilities 27,610 12,174

Derivative liabilities 2,436 3,796

Other current liabilities 19,074 8,881

416,383 320,338

Transferred to non-current assets held for sale –4,383

Accounts payable and other current liabilities 416,383 315,956

Non-current and current accounts payable and other liabilities 419,609 319,837
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Sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk
The following assumptions are made when calculating the sensitivity caused by a 
change in the level of interest rates:

–– the interest rate change is assumed to be 1 percentage point
–– the position includes variable-rate financial liabilities, variable-rate financial 

receivables and interest rate derivatives
–– all factors other than the change in interest rates remain constant 
–– taxes have not been taken into consideration when calculating sensitivity

EUR 1,000

Income 
statement  

+1 %

Income 
statement

–1 %

Other  
comprehen-
sive income 

+1 %

Other 
comprehen-
sive income

 –1 %
31.12.2011

Variable-rate liabilities –3,038 3,038

Variable-rate receivables 304 –304

Interest rate derivatives 72 –74 334 344

–2,663 2,661 334 344

EUR 1,000

Income  
statement  

+1 %

Income  
statement

–1 %

Other  
comprehen-
sive income 

+1 %

Other  
comprehen-
sive income 

–1 %
31.12.2010

Variable-rate liabilities –2,257 2,257

Variable-rate receivables 263 –263

Interest rate derivatives 165 –165 641 –649

–1,829 1,829 641 –649

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
In its business operations, Lemminkäinen Group is exposed to financial risks, mainly 
interest rate, exchange rate, funding, liquidity and credit risks. The aim of the Group’s 
financial risk management is to reduce uncertainty concerning the possible impacts 
that changes in value on the financial markets could have on the Group’s result, cash 
flow and value. The management of financial risks is based on principles approved by 
the Board of Directors. The treasury policy defines the principles and division of re-
sponsibilities with regard to financial activities and the management of financial risk. 
The policy is reviewed and if necessary updated at least annually.

Execution of the treasury policy is the responsibility of the Group Treasury, 
which is mainly responsible for the management of financial risks and handles 
the Group’s treasury activities on a centralised basis. The Group’s treasury poli-
cy defines the division of responsibilities between the Group Treasury and busi-
ness units in each subarea. The Group companies are responsible for providing the 
Group Treasury with up-to-date and accurate information on treasury-related mat-
ters concerning their business operations. The Group Treasury serves as an internal 
bank and co-ordinates, directs and supports the Group companies in treasury mat-
ters such that the Group’s financial needs are met and its financial risks are con-
trolled effectively in line with the treasury policy.

Interest rate risk
The aim of Lemminkäinen Group’s interest rate risk management is to minimise 
changes affecting the result, cash flows and value of the Group due to interest rate 
fluctuations. The Group Treasury manages and monitors the interest rate position. 
The Group’s interest rate risk primarily comprises fixed-rate and variable-rate loan and 
leasing agreements, interest-bearing financial receivables and interest rate deriva-
tives. Interest rate changes affect items in the income statement and balance sheet.

The interest rate risk is decreased by setting the average interest rate fixing pe-
riod of Group’s liabilities to the same as the interest rate sensitivity of its business. 
The interest rate sensitivity position of the Group’s business is estimated to be about 
15 months. The treasury policy thus defines the Group’s average interest rate fixing 
period as 12–18 months. The Group also aims to keep 40–65 per cent of its liabili-
ties per currency hedged.

The Group can take out both variable- and fixed-rate long term loans. The ratio 
of fixed- and variable-rate loans can be changed by using interest rate derivatives. In 
2011, the Group has used interest rate swaps and applied hedge accounting to two 
interest rate swap agreements.

Interest rate fluctuations in 2011 did not have any unusual effect on the Group’s 
business, but a significant rise in the level of interest rates may have a detrimental 
effect on the demand for housing. 
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Currency risk
The aim of exchange rate risk management is to reduce uncertainty concerning the 
possible impacts that changes in exchange rates could have on the future values of 
cash flows, business receivables and liabilities, and other balance sheet items. Ex-
change rate risk mainly consists of transaction risk and translation risk.

Translation risk consists of exchange rate differences arising from the translation 
of the income statements and balance sheets of foreign group companies into the 
Group’s home currency. In practice, the Group’s reportable translation risk is caused 
by equity investments in and the retained earnings of foreign subsidiaries, the ef-
fects of which are recorded under translation differences in shareholders’ equity. 
Lemminkäinen Group has foreign net investments in several currencies. In accord-
ance with the treasury policy, Lemminkäinen Group protects itself from translation 
risks primarily by keeping equity investments in foreign companies at an appropri-
ately low level, and thus does not use financial instruments to hedge the transla-
tion risks.

Transaction risk arise in foreign currency denominated transactions from operation-
al and financial activities. The Group seeks to hedge it’s transaction risk of business 
operations primarily by operative means. The remaining transaction risk is hedged by 
using instruments such as foreign currency loans and currency derivatives.

The group companies are responsible for identifying, reporting, forecasting and 
hedging their transaction risk positions internally. The Group Treasury is responsible 
for hedging the Group’s risk positions as external transactions in accordance with 
the treasury policy. The general rule is that the major net positions forecasted for 
the 12 months following the review date are hedged, with a hedging ratio ranging 
from 25–100 per cent and emphasising the first six months.

The key currencies in which the Group was exposed to transaction risk in 2011 
were US-dollar and russian rouble. These transaction risk positions were mainly due 
to sales, procurements, receivables and liabilities. In 2011 the Group did not apply 
hedge accounting to transaction risk hedging.

Sensitivity analysis of transaction risk
The following assumptions have been made when calculating the sensitivity 
caused by changes in the euro/dollar and euro/rouble exchange rates:

–– the exchange rate change is assumed to be +/–10%
–– the position includes financial assets and liabilities denominated in roubles 

and dollars 
–– the position does not include forecasted future cash flows
–– taxes have not been taken into consideration when calculating sensitivity

Funding and liquidity risk
The Group seeks to optimise the use of liquid assets in funding its business op-
erations and to minimise interest and other financial expenses. The Group Treas-
ury is responsible for managing the Group’s overall liquidity and ensuring that ad-
equate credit lines and a sufficient number of funding sources are available. It also 
ensures that the maturity profile of the Group’s loans and credit facilities is spread 
sufficiently evenly over coming years as set out in the treasury policy. The Group’s 
liquidity management is based on monthly forecasts of funding requirements and 
daily cash flow forecasting.

According to the treasury policy, the Group’s liquidity reserve shall at all times 
match the Group’s total liquidity requirement, and it must be accessible within five 
banking days without any additional charges being incurred. The Group’s total li-
quidity requirement consists of the liquidity requirement of day-to-day operations, 
risk premium needs and the strategic liquidity requirement.

Due to the nature of the Group’s business operations, the importance of sea-
sonal borrowing is great. The effect of seasonal variation on short term liquidity is 
controlled by using a commercial paper programme, committed credit limits and 
bank overdraft facilities. The total amount of the Group’s commercial paper pro-
gramme is EUR 300 million (EUR 300 million), of which EUR 119.9 million (EUR 
75.0 million) was in use at 31 December 2011. At that time, the Group had unused 
committed credit facilities totalling EUR 140.7 million (EUR 160.0 million).

The main principle in liquidity management is to use excess liquidity of busi-
ness operations to repay debt. The Group’s excess liquidity is collected by means 
of internal deposits and cash pools. The amount of cash and cash equivalents at 31 
December 2011 was EUR 30.4 million (EUR 26.3 million).

EUR 1,000
31.12.2011

Income statement
31.12.2010

Income statement
EUR/USD +/–10% –142/+173 –332/+406

EUR/RUB +/–10% –529/+647 –427/+522
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Cash flows of financial liabilities and derivatives based on agreements				 

EUR 1,000 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017- Total
31.12.2011

Loans 231,391 61,341 90,605 2,682 598 782 387,398

Finance lease liabilities 14,787 13,041 10,542 8,350 8,305 10,479 65,505

Interest rate derivatives 891 460 70 1,421

Foreign exchange derivatives

Cash flows payable 71,076 71,076

Cash flows receivable –69,928 –69,928

Commodity derivatives

Cash flows payable

Cash flows receivable –159 –159

Other financial liabilities 176,071 2,011 341 524 178,948

Accounts payable 101,127 101,127

Total 525,256 76,854 101,558 11,556 8,903 11,261 735,388

EUR 1,000 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016- Total
31.12.2010

Loans 152,697 43,869 41,993 90,738 7,984 395 337,675

Finance lease liabilities 13,455 10,891 9,758 7,426 7,265 12,193 60,988

Interest rate derivatives 1,577 1,090 604 122 3,393

Foreign exchange derivatives

Cash flows payable 49,209 49,209

Cash flows receivable –48,794 –48,794

Commodity derivatives

Cash flows payable 169 169

Cash flows receivable

Other financial liabilities 121,951 487 25 12 122,475

Accounts payable 69,257 69,257

Total 359,522 56,336 52,380 98,297 15,249 12,588 594,372

Credit risk
Credit risks arise when a counterparty is unable to meet its contractual obligations, casusing the other party to suffer a financial loss. Lemminkäinen has defined a credit policy 
for customer receivables that aims to boost profitable sales by identifying credit risks in advance and controlling them. Most of the Group’s business is based on established and 
trustworthy customer relationships and on contractual terms generally observed in the industry. The credit policy sets the minimum requirements concerning trade credit and 
collections for Lemminkäinen Group. The Group’s credit control function defines credit risks and  the business units are responsible for managing them. In the prevailing eco-
nomic situation, the importance of credit control is underlined, and the Company’s credit control processes have been enhanced.

The Group is exposed to credit risk through all of the Group’s trade receivables and receivables associated with deposits and receivables. The maximum amount of credit risk is 
the combined total of the balance sheet values of the aforementioned items. The amounts and due dates of the Group’s trade and loan receivables are presented in the next table. 
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The Group does not have any significant credit risk concentrations as trade receivables are distributed among many different customers in a number of market areas. The 
business unit that made the contract actively monitors the receivables situation. If the business units renegotiate the terms of the receivables, they must do so in accord-
ance with the requirements of the Group’s credit policy. The risk of credit losses can be reduced by means of guarantees, mainly bank guarantees and bank deposits. Lem-
minkäinen’s credit losses have been minimal in relation to the scale of its operations. The main risks in this respect are associated with business in Russia. As a general rule, 
construction projects in Russia are only undertaken against receipt of advance payments. If, in exceptional situations, a credit risk is taken, the amount permitted is always 
proportional to the expected margin on the project in question. Written-down financial assets represent credit losses. Receiveables transferred for legally enforceable col-
lection are recognised as credit losses.

The Group Treasury is responsible for the management of the Group’s counterparty and credit risks related to cash, financial investments and financial transactions. The 
Group is exposed to counterparty risk when investing liquid assets and using derivative instruments. Liquid assets are invested in short term bank deposits, certificates of de-
posit issued by solvent partner banks, and commercial papers issued by corporations with a good credit rating. The treasury policy specifies the approved counterparties and 
their criteria. At the end of 2011, the counterparty risk was considered to be low.

Ageing analysis of trade and loan receivables

EUR 1,000 Not due
Past due

1–30 days
Past due

31–60 days
Past due

61–90 days
Past due

over 90 days Total
31.12.2011

Non-current receivables

Trade receivables 501 501

Loan receivables 4,264 4,264

Current receivables

Trade receivables 217,797 26,923 7,347 4,033 8,541 264,640

Loan receivables 202 202

222,763 26,923 7,347 4,033 8,541 269,607

EUR 1,000 Not due
Past due

1–30 days
Past due

31–60 days
Past due

61–90 days
Past due

over 90 days Total
31.12.2010

Non-current receivables

Trade receivables 238 238

Loan receivables 5,784 5,784

Current receivables

Trade receivables 169,559 21,965 4,041 1,469 10,111 207,145

Loan receivables 944 944

176,526 21,965 4,041 1,469 10,111 214,112
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Commodity price risk
The Group’s paving operations are exposed to bitumen price risk. The price of bitu-
men is determined by the world market price of oil. The Group protects itself against 
the bitumen price risk with fixed purchase prices and derivatives that are not sub-
ject to hedge accounting. By the closing date, the group companies had used bitu-
men derivatives to hedge, in total, 7,600 Mt (21,350 Mt) of bitumen purchases.

Management of capital and the capital structure
Capital means the equity and interest-bearing liabilities shown on Lemminkäinen’s 
consolidated balance sheet.

Lemminkäinen Group’s capital management attempts to ensure cost-effec-
tively that all of the Group’s business sectors maintain their business viability at a 
competitive level in all cyclical conditions, that risk-carrying capacity is adequate, 
for example, in construction contracts, and that the Company is able to pay a good 
dividend and service its loans.

The amount of the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities is affected by factors 
such as business expansion, seasonal changes in production, acquisitions, and in-
vestments in or the sale of production equipment, buildings and land. The Compa-
ny continuously monitors the amount of debt, the ratio of net debt to EBITDA, and 
the equity ratio. 

Some of the Group’s borrowing facility arrangements include two financial cov-
enants that are measured quarterly: the ratio of net debt to EBITDA and the equity 
ratio. The terms of the other covenant were not met during the first quarter, but the 
lenders accepted a temporary amendment to the term of the covenant in question 
while the financing arrangements will remain unchanged with respect to the oth-
er parts. In the course of the year, the terms of the covenants were restored to their 
original levels.

The Company also follows the development of equity by means of the return on 
investment. A long term average in excess of 18% is regarded as a good return. The 
return on investment in 2011 was 10.8 % (7.0 % in 2010).

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Interest-bearing liabilities 431,611 375,514

Cash and cash equivalents 30,395 26,348

Interest-bearing net debt 401,216 349,166

Equity attributable to the equity holders of parent company 348,693 325,196

Equity, total 350,401 330,282

Equity ratio, % 30.8 35.2

Gearing, % 114.5 105.7

Return on investment, % 10.8 7.0

28 DERIVATIVES

EUR 1,000 Nominal value
Fair value  

positive
Fair value 
negative

Fair value 
net

31.12.2011

Foreign exchange derivatives 70,977 105 –928 –823

Interest rate derivatives 35,740 –1,508 –1,508

Commodity derivatives 3,493 159 159

31.12.2010

Foreign exchange derivatives 48,902 113 –981 –868

Interest rate derivatives 58,072 –2,647 –2,647

Commodity derivatives 7,888 286 –169 117

The fair value of derivative contracts is the gain or loss arising from closure of the 
contract based on the market price on the accounting date.

Hedge accounting as defined in IFRS standards has not been applied to all de-
rivative instruments. Nevertheless, these derivative instruments have been utilised 
for hedging purposes. The derivatives are used in order to reduce business risks and 
to hedge balance-sheet items denominated in foreign currencies. Changes in the 
fair value of derivatives outside hedge accounting are recognised through profit and 
loss in accordance with their nature either in financial items or as other operating 
income and expenses.

29 ADJUSTMENTS TO CASH FLOWS FROM BUSINESS OPERATIONS

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Depreciation and impairment on goodwill 38,070 35,046

Change in obligatory provisions 258 –1,338

Change in pension obligations 3,031 –289

Credit losses on trade receivables 174 1,413

Financial income and expenses recognised on an accruals basis 18,920 21,969
Capital gains and losses on the sale of fixed assets as well as 
other non-payment income and expenses –17,904 –20,744

Share of the results of associates –1,867 –743

Translation differences –649 407

40,033 35,721
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30 OTHER RENTAL COMMITMENTS

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Minimum leases of irrevocable rental agreements

One year or less 12,983 15,152

Over one year, but less than five years 30,796 30,357

Over five years 13,397 17,525

57,175 63,035

Other rental commitments include the following rental liabilities

One year or less 6,465 8,153

Over one year, but less than five years 10,936 9,818

Over five years 357 430

17,758 18,401

Irrevocable rental commitments are mainly rental agreements concerning real es-
tate and leased machines.

31 GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010

Other mortgages and securities for own commitments	

Business mortgages 420

Bonds pledged as security 17 263

Deposits 61

17 745

Pledges on behalf of others

Pledged securities 90 90

Mortgages and pledged securities, total

Business mortgages 420

Pledged securities 107 353

Deposits 61

107 835

Guarantees

On behalf of associates 20,337

On behalf of others 18,863 25,763

39,200 25,763

Investment purchase commitments 7,154 7,147

32 LITIGATION
In 2009, the Supreme Administrative Court (SAC) ordered Finnish asphalt in-
dustry companies to pay an infringement fine for violations of the Act on Compe-
tition Restrictions.

In late 2011, a total of 40 claims for damages brought by municipalities and 
the Finnish state (Finnish Transport Agency) are pending against Lemminkäinen 
and other asphalt industry companies in the District Court. The claimants contend 
that restrictions of competition have caused them damages. The total amount of 
damages sought from Lemminkäinen is currently about EUR 117 million. After the 
Finnish Transport Agency changed its claim, the total amount of claims has risen 
by approximately EUR 15 million. The claims presented in the statements of claim 
differ from each other as regards their amounts and grounds. 

The ruling rendered by the SAC in 2009 as it stands does not mean that Lem-
minkäinen or the other asphalt industry companies actually caused any damages to 
the asphalt work clients. The ruling does not concern the individual contracts that 
the claimants cited in support of their claims. Nor does the ruling concern the pricing 
of individual contracts. The SAC has not investigated the contention that inflated 
prices that do not correspond to market prices have been charged for the contracts. 

Lemminkäinen’s initial position is that the claims for damages are without 
foundation. The claims will be processed in the order and schedule set by the Dis-
trict Court. Preparatory sessions for the trial began in January 2012, but a more de-
tailed process and ruling schedule is currently not yet available.

No provisions have been made in respect of the claims of the municipalities and 
the Finnish Transport Agency that are pending in the District Court.
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33 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Lemminkäinen Group’s related parties include associated companies and senior 
management. Senior management comprises the Board of Directors, the CEO, Ex-
ecutive Board and the internal audit manager. Business with associates is conduct-
ed at market prices.

Business with related parties

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Sales of goods and services

To associates 635 295

Purchases of goods and services

From associates 13,565 4,051

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Balance of purchases/sales of goods and services

Trade receivables

From associates 1 6

Accounts payable

To associates 611 69

As of 31 December 2011, the Group had granted EUR 0.1 million in loans to associ-
ates (EUR 0.1 million in 2010). Related-party transactions with associates involve 
mainly asphalt contracts and mineral aggregate deliveries. A list of investments in 
subsidiaries and associates can be found in Section 35 and additional information 
on associates in Section 11.

Related-party salaries, fees  
and other short term employee benefits

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12.

2011
1.1.–31.12.

2010
Board of Directors

Berndt Brunow 126 127

Mikael Mäkinen 42 43

Kristina Pentti-von Walzel 44 46

Heikki Räty 46 46

Teppo Taberman 41 45

Juhani Mäkinen 44 46

Executive Board

Timo Kohtamäki 491 646

Other members of the Executive Board 1,224 1,668

Related-party salaries, fees and other short term employee benefits 2,056 2,666

Remuneration of the Board of Directors
Lemminkäinen Corporation’s Annual General Meeting elects each year the mem-
bers to serve on the Company’s Board of Directors and decides their fees. The term 
of office of the board members ends at the conclusion of the first Annual General 
Meeting held after their election. 

The 2011 Annual General Meeting decided that the Chairman would be paid a fee 
of EUR 10,000 (2010: 10,000) per month and the board members would each re-
ceived a fee of EUR 3,000 (3,000) per month. The board members also receive an 
attendance fee of EUR 500 per meeting. In addition,  the chairman of the Audit Com-
mittee be paid an attendance fee of EUR 1,000 and the members of the Audit Com-
mittee be paid an attendance fee of EUR 500 for each meeting of the Committee.

The members of Lemminkäinen’s Board of Directors do not belong to the share-
based incentive scheme, and they are not employees of Lemminkäinen Corporation. 

Remuneration of the Group Management
On the basis of a proposal submitted by the Remuneration Committee, the Lem-
minkäinen Board of Directors decides on the basic salary and fringe benefits of the 
president and CEO and of the Executive Board and on both short term and long 
term remuneration.

Management remuneration 
The Lemminkäinen Group complies with the management remuneration policy ap-
proved by the Board of Directors. According to this policy, the remuneration giv-
en to the president and CEO, members of the Group’s Executive Board, and other 



Notes of the consol idated f inancial  statements (IFRS) – financial statements – Lemminkäinen annual report 2011 141

management personnel consists of a fixed basic salary plus payments in kind, other 
benefits, and long- and short term bonuses.

The key economic goals of Lemminkäinen’s strategy are profitable growth and 
strengthening of the Group’s financial position. The Board of Directors decides an-
nually on the short- and long term remuneration metrics and their values used to 
support the reaching of Lemminkäinen’s strategic goals. 

Fixed basic pay refers to a person’s monthly salary, which is determined by the 
business value of the job as well as the performance and experience of the person 
doing the job. In addition to the use of a company car, mobile phone, and meal ben-
efit, management personnel have extended insurance cover for accidents and trav-
el in their leisure time.

Short term reward scheme
Short term rewarding is based on the possibility of receiving an annual perfor-
mance-linked bonus. Performance-related pay is earned by exceeding performance 
targets, and the associated values are specified at the beginning of each year. Lem-
minkäinen’s management are divided into four performance-related pay groups, 
with the classification determining the maximum performance-related pay per-
centage applicable for each individual. Membership of a performance-related pay 
group is based on the individual’s position in the organisational hierarchy, as well as 
the business value and impact of the person’s job.

For all members of the Executive Board, the performance-related reward possi-
ble for 2011 will be based on Lemminkäinen Group’s result before taxes and the im-
plementation of the strategic programme. The performance-related rewards for the 
heads of the four branches will be based on not only the above-mentioned criteria 
but also the operating result of each branch as well as the final balanced scorecard 
for the branch, and for the other members of the Executive Board they are based on 
the associated balanced scorecard in addition to the above. Reaching of the perfor-
mance-related reward targets will be assessed at least biannually.

The maximum performance-related reward payable to Lemminkäinen’s president 
and CEO in 2011 will be 80% of his annual salary.  The corresponding percentage for 
the other members of the Group’s Executive Board will be 60% of their annual salary.

Long term reward scheme
Lemminkäinen’s long term reward scheme is a share-based incentive plan with 
three earning periods: calendar years 2010, 2011, and 2012. The commitment pe-
riod is two years. The Lemminkäinen Board of Directors decides on the earning cri-
teria for each earning period and on the targets set for them at the beginning of 
each earning period. Fulfilment of the earning criteria will be examined at least bi-
annually. The earning criteria for the 2011 long term reward will be the Group’s re-
turn on investment and the Group’s equity ratio. 

In addition to the president and CEO and the other members of Lemminkäin-
en’s Executive Board, approximately 40 further persons are included within the 
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scope of the scheme. The Lemminkäinen Board of Directors decides on the distri-
bution of shares to key personnel. 

34 EVENTS AFTER THE ACCOUNTING DATE
As of 1 January 2012, Lemminkäinen’s business operations are organised into four 
branches: International Operations, Building Construction, Infrastructure Construc-
tion and Technical Building Services. 



Lemminkäinen annual report 2011 – financial statements – Notes of the consol idated f inancial  statements (IFRS)142

35 SHARES AND HOLDINGS

Company
Consolidated

shareholding, %

 
Parent company  
shareholding, %

 
Parent company  

shareholding, shares

Parent company  
shareholding,  

book value 
Finnish GAAP,  

EUR 1,000

Shareholding of other
Group undertakings

book value 
Finnish GAAP,  

EUR 1,000
31.12.2011

Group undertakings

Lemminkäinen Talo Oy, Helsinki 100.0 100.0 2,183,663 73,922

Lemminkäinen Infra Oy, Helsinki 100.0 100.0 1,338 36,711

Lemminkäinen Talotekniikka Oy, Espoo 100.0 100.0 2,138,147 43,226

Lemminkäinen Rakennustuotteet Oy, Helsinki 100.0 100.0 250 6,230

Lemcon Networks Oy, Helsinki 100.0 100.0 392,000 2,383

UAB Lemcon Vilnius, Lithuania 100.0 100.0

UAB Lemminkäinen Lietuva, Lithuania 99.9 99.9 3,737,272 3,526

Lemminkäinen Talo Oy International, Helsinki 100.0 5

Lemminkäinen Talo Oy Russia, Helsinki 100.0 155

Lemminkäinen PPP Oy, Kuopio 100.0 3

ICM International Construction Management, Hungary 100.0 684

Lemminkäinen  Co., Ltd, China 100.0 72

Lemminkäinen Construction (India) Private Limited, India 100.0 853

Lemcon HR Oy, Helsinki 100.0 60

OOO Lemcon Invest, Russia 100.0 2,284

Lemcon Polska  Sp.Z O.O, Poland 100.0 1,576

Lemminkäinen Ehitus As, Estonia 100.0 3

OOO Lemminkäinen Service, Russia 100.0 13

OOO Lemminkäinen Stroy, Russia 100.0 864

Rekab Entreprenad Ab, Sweden 80.0 243

ZAO Lemminkäinen Rus, Russia 100.0 14,629

Lemcon (Philippines) Inc, Philippines 100.0 222

Lemcon (Thailand) Ltd, Thailand 100.0 51

Lemcon Argentina S.R.L, Argentina 100.0 5

LEMCON Baumanagement GmbH, Germany 100.0 26

Lemcon Bauprojekt-Management GmbH, Austria 100.0 28

Lemcon Bulgaria EOOD, Bulgaria 100.0 3

Lemcon Canada Ltd, Canada 100.0 1

Lemcon Chile Ltda, Chile 100.0 14

Lemcon Columbia Ltda, Columbia 100.0 3

Lemcon do Brasil Ltda, Brasil 100.0 22

Lemcon Építöipari Kft, Hungary 100.0 28
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Company
Consolidated

shareholding, %

 
Parent company  
shareholding, %

 
Parent company  

shareholding, shares

Parent company  
shareholding,  

book value 
Finnish GAAP,  

EUR 1,000

Shareholding of other
Group undertakings

book value 
Finnish GAAP,  

EUR 1,000
Lemcon Network Services Ltd, UK 100.0 19

Lemcon Networks Mexico S.de R.L.De C.V. Mexico 100.0

Lemcon Norge As, Norway 100.0 12

Lemcon Pte Ltd, Singapore 100.0 7

Lemcon Servicos de Planejamento de Engenharia Ltda, Brasil 100.0 20

Lemcon USA Corporation, United States 100.0 1

Lemcon Venezuela C.A., Venezuela 100.0 8

LEMCON ECUADOR SA, Ecuador 100.0 1

Pasila Telecom Oy, Helsinki 100.0 8

Private Company lemcon Ukraine, Ukraine 100.0 8

PT Lemcon Networks, Indonesia 100.0 75

Asfalt Remix AS, Norway 75.0 5,320

ICS "Lemminkainen Infra Oy" SRL, Moldova 100.0

Lemminkäinen A/S, Denmark 100.0 18,972

Lemminkäinen Anlegg AS, Norway 90.1 3,951

Lemminkäinen Industri AS, Norway 100.0 10,556

Lemminkäinen Eesti AS, Estonia 91.7 3,894

Lemminkäinen Norge AS, Norway 100.0 11,799

Lemminkäinen Sverige Ab, Sweden 100.0 12

Lohketööd Oy, Salo 85.0 3

Oü Järva Paas, Estonia 44.2 3

Oü Lõhketööd, Estonia 85.0 1,192

SIA Lemminkainen Latvija, Latvia 100.0 1,835

Tolarock Oy, Kajaani 100.0 3,048

ZAO Lemminkäinen Dor Stroi, Russia 100.0 544

Tekmanni RusService Oy, Espoo 100.0 3

Tekmen SPB, Russia 90.0 192

Lembet Oy, Helsinki 100.0 10.0 1 1 5

ZAO Lemruf, Russia 100.0 3

Total 165,999 83,334

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1 1

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29

30

3 1

32

33

34

35



Lemminkäinen annual report 2011 – financial statements – Notes of the consol idated f inancial  statements (IFRS)144

Company
Consolidated

shareholding, %

 
Parent company  
shareholding, %

 
Parent company  

shareholding, shares

Parent company  
shareholding,  

book value 
Finnish GAAP,  

EUR 1,000

Shareholding of other
Group undertakings

book value 
Finnish GAAP,  

EUR 1,000
Associated undertakings

Finavo Oy, Helsinki 47.5 476

Genvej A/S, Denmark 50.0 202

Lemcon Likusasa Africa Pty, South-Africa 50.0

NHK Rakennus Oy, Helsinki 35.0 622

Martin Haraldstad AS, Norway 50.0 793

Nordasfalt AS, Norway 50.0 613

Ullensaker Asfalt ANS, Norway 50.0 580

MultiMore AB. Sweden 25.0 52

Vuokatin Betoni Oy, Sotkamo 33.1 13

Total 3,352

Other shares and holdings

Housing shares 327 209

Property shares 793 3,066

Other shares and holdings 646 950

Total 1,766 4,225
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Parent company income 
statement (FAS)

Parent company  
balance sheet (FAS)

EUR 1,000 Note
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Net sales  1.1 32,307 20,895

Production for own use 290

Other operating income  1.2 4,216 24,496

Materials and services  1.3 320 252

Personnel expenses  1.4 20,048 14,851

Depreciation  1.5 3,112 958

Other operating expenses  25,718 21,346

Operating profit/loss –12,385 7,983

  

Financial income and expenses  1.6 3,990 –7,095

Profit before extraordinary items –8,395 889

Extraordinary items  1.7 22,900 14,000

Result before taxes 14,505 14,889

Direct taxes  1.8 –1,321 2,698

Result for the financial year 13,184 17,587

EUR 1,000 Note 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
ASSETS

Non-current assets  2.1

Intangible assets  2.1.1 9,057 5,313

Tangible assets  2.1.2 12,317 12,772

Holdings in Group undertakings  2.1.3 165,999 161,680

Other investments  2.1.3 1,766 2,062

189,139 181,828

Current assets  2.2

Deferred tax asset 2.2.1 1,755 3,279

Non-current receivables 2.2.1 4,264 4,613

Current receivables 2.2.2 351,908 323,594

Cash in hand and at banks 1,073 4,586

359,000 336,071

548,140 517,899

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity  2.3

Share capital 34,043 34,043

Share premium account 5,675 5,675

Invested non-restricted equity fund 60,997 60,997

Other funds –940 –1,510

Retained earnings 82,970 75,206

Result for the financial year 13,184 17,587

 195,929 191,996

Liabilities  2.4

Deferred tax liability  2.4.1 1,358 1,441

Non-current liabilities  2.4.2 140,398 159,598

Current liabilities  2.4.3 210,456 164,864

352,211 325,903

548,140 517,899
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Parent company 
cash flow statement (FAS)

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Cash flow from business operations

Result before extraordinary items –8,395 889

Extraordinary items 22,900 14,000

Adjustments

Depreciation according to plan 3,112 958

Financial income and expenses –3,990 7,095

Other adjustments –4,314 –24,130

Cash flow before change in working capital 9,313 –1,189

Change in working capital
Increase(–)/decrease(+) in current interest-free 
business receivables –14,227 32,262

Increase(+)/decrease(–) in current interest-free liabilities 2,934 2,852

Cash flow from operations before financial items and taxes –1,980 33,925

Interest and other financial expenses paid –20,208 –24,663

Dividends received 5,761 1,741

Interest and other financial income received 17,481 15,092

Direct taxes paid –105 –18

Cash flow from business operations 949 26,077

Cash flow from investments

Investments in tangible and intangible assets –6,421 –4,750

Capital gains from the sale of tangible and intangible assets 51 108

Investments in other assets –4

Capital gains from the sale of other investments 178 91

Purchases of subsidiary shares –5,842 –875

Cash flow from investments –12,037 –5,426

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
Cash flow from financing

Increase(–)/decrease(+) in non-current receivables 348 370

Share issue for cash consideration 39,525

Group contributions received 14,000 14,000

Change in Group receivables/liabilities –20,475 –79,140

Short term loans drawn 214,266 229,600

Repayments of short term loans –175,532 –158,564

Long term loans drawn 258,706 82,800

Repayments of long term loans –273,937 –156,933

Dividends paid –9,822

Cash flow from financing 7,553 –28,342

Increase(+)/decrease(–) in cash and cash equivalents –3,535 –7,690

Cash and cash equivalents at begining of financial year 4,586 12,186

Corporate restructuring 22 90

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 1,073 4,586
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Parent Company’s Accounting 
Principles, 31 Dec. 2011
Lemminkäinen Corporation’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
Finnish accounting standards (FAS).

Foreign currency items
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the function-
al currency using the exchange rate ruling on the transaction date. On the closing 
date, receivables and liabilities on the balance sheet are translated using the ex-
change rates on that date.

Derivatives
Derivatives are measured at fair value.

Forward foreign exchange contracts are measured on the closing date using the 
forward foreign exchange rates on that date. Forward foreign exchange contracts 
are used to hedge against changes in predicted foreign currency-denominated cash 
flows and the exchange rates of receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies. The 
fair values of interest-rate swap agreements are calculated as the present value of 
future cash flows. Interest-rate swap agreements are used for the variable to fixed 
rate conversion of the Company’s loans from financial institutions. The income and 
expenses from these assets and liabilities entered in the income statement are pre-
sented under financial items in the income statement and in section 1.6 of the 
notes to the financial statements.

Hedge accounting
The Company has applied hedge accounting to interest-rate swap agreements 
used to hedge variable-rate loans. The agreements are defined as cash flow hedg-
es and they provide protection against fluctuations in loan interest payments due to 
changes in market interest rates. The change in fair value of the interest-rate swap 

agreements used as hedges is recognised directly in the hedging reserve in equi-
ty to the extent that the hedging relationship is effective. The ineffective part of 
the change is entered in interest expenses in the income statement. Changes in fair 
value accumulated in equity are recognised through profit and loss in interest ex-
penses in the accounting period when the hedged item produces a profit or loss.

Valuation and depreciation of fixed assets
Fixed assets are shown on the balance sheet at their original acquisition costs less 
planned depreciation over their expected economic lifetimes. In addition, the values 
of some land, buildings and shareholdings include revaluations, against which no 
depreciation is charged. The depreciation periods are as follows:

–– Buildings and structures 10–40 years
–– Machinery and equipment 4–10 years
–– Other fixed assets 4–10 years

Pension liability
The pension security of employees, inclusive of additional benefits, is covered by 
policies taken out from a pension insurance company.

Research and development expenses
R&D expenditure is expensed in the year during which it occurs.

Direct taxes
Taxes calculated on the basis of the result for the financial year, adjustments to the 
taxes of earlier financial years, and the change in the deferred tax liability and asset 
are recorded as direct taxes on the income statement.
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Notes to the Parent Company  
Financial Statements (FAS)
1 INCOME STATEMENT

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
1.1 NET SALES BY MARKET AREA

 

Finland 32,288 20,843

Nordic countries 19 33

Eastern Europe and Baltic countries 0 19

32,307 20,895

1.2 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Profit on the sale of fixed assets 43 45

Gain on merger 4,158 24,421

Others 15 30

4,216 24,496

1.3 MATERIALS AND SERVICES

Purchases during the financial year

External services 320 252

320 252

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
1.4 NOTES CONCERNING PERSONNEL, MANAGEMENT  
AND BOARD MEMBERS

Personnel expenses

Salaries, wages and emoluments 15,365 11,249

Pension expenses 4,159 3,005

Other staff costs 524 597

20,048 14,851

Management salaries and emoluments

Board Members and Managing Director 932 998

Average number of employees

Salaried employees 261 191

261 191

Pension commitments concerning Board Members and Managing Director

The retirement age of the Managing Director of Lemminkäinen Corporation is 60 years. 

1.5 DEPRECIATION

Intangible rights 349 362

Other capitalised expenditure 2,242 22

Buildings 343 347

Machinery and equipment 117 165

Other tangible assets 62 62

3,112 958
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EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
1.6 FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

 

Dividend income

From Group undertakings 5,760 1,740

From others 1 1

5,761 1,741

Other interest and financial income

From Group undertakings 14,501 11,604

From others 4,137 5,716

18,638 17,320

Interest expenses and other financial expenses

To Group undertakings –1,658 –2,453

To others –18,751 –23,703

–20,409 –26,156

Net financial income/expenses 3,990 –7,095

Financial imcome and expenses include: 

Exchange gains and losses (net) –1,426 –387

Change in fair value of currency derivatives (net) 330 –320

Change in fair value of interest rate derivatives (net) 153 –153

EUR 1,000
1.1.–31.12. 

2011
1.1.–31.12. 

2010
1.7 EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS

Extraordinary incomes, Group contributions 22,900 14,000

22,900 14,000

1.8 DIRECT TAXES

Income taxes on normal business operations –1,215 –50

Income taxes in respect of previous years –105 2,748

–1,321 2,698
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2 BALANCE SHEET

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
2.1 NON-CURRENT ASSETS

2.1.1 Intangible assets

Intangible rights 1,684 349

Other capitalised expenditure 4,848 205

Advance payments 2,526 4,759

9,057 5,313

2.1.2 Tangible assets

Land and water 6,261 6,278

Buildings 5,345 5,690

Machinery and equipment 310 346

Other intangible assets 397 459

Advance payments and work in progress 5

12,317 12,772

2.1.3 Investments

Holdings in Group undertakings 165,999 161,680

Other shares and holdings 1,766 2,062

167,765 163,742

2.1.1 Intangible assets 

Intangible rights

Acquisition cost 1.1. 2,014 1,861

Increases 1,683 377

Decreases –33 –224
Acquisition cost 31.12. 3,663 2,014

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. –1,980 –1,664

Book value 31.12. 1,684 349

Other capitalised expenditure

Acquisition cost 1.1. 327 259

Increases 6,886 68

Acquisition cost 31.12. 7,212 327

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. –2,364 –122

Book value 31.12. 4,848 205

Advance payments

Acquisition cost 1.1. 4,759 193

Increases 5,378 4,735

Decreases –7,611 –169

Acquisition cost 31.12. 2,526 4,759

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
2.1.2 Tangible assets

Land and water

Acquisition cost 1.1. 3,191 3,191

Decreases –18

Acquisition cost 31.12. 3,173 3,191

Revaluations 3,087 3,087

Book value 31.12. 6,261 6,278

Buildings

Acquisition cost 1.1. 14,672 14,900

Increases 26

Decreases –320 –254

Acquisition cost 31.12. 14,351 14,672

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. –11,384 –11,360

Revaluations 2,378 2,378

Book value 31.12. 5,345 5,690

Machinery and equipment

Acquisition cost 1.1. 1,052 1,458

Increases 81 106

Decreases –125 –512

Acquisition cost 31.12. 1,008 1,052

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. –698 –706

Book value 31.12. 310 346

Other tangible assets

Acquisition cost 1.1. 1,364 1,359

Increases 7

Decreases –5 –2

Acquisition cost 31.12. 1,358 1,364

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. –961 –905

Book value 31.12. 397 459

Advance payments and construction in progress

Acquisition cost 1.1. 26

Increases 5

Decreases –26

Acquisition cost 31.12. 5
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EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
2.1.3  Investments

Holdings in Group undertakings

Acquisition cost 1.1. 161,680 164,688

Increases from mergers 32,273

Increases 5,842 22,347

Decreases from mergers –1,524 –57,628

Acquisition cost 31.12. 165,999 161,680

Merger difference has been allocated to acquisition cost of received subsidiary shares and to other operating income.

Other shares

Acquisition cost 1.1. 1,986 2,031

Increases 5

Decreases –296 –50

Acquisition cost 31.12. 1,690 1,986

Revaluations 76 76

Book value 31.12. 1,766 2,062

2.1.4 Revaluations

Land

Value 1.1. 3,087 3,087

Value 31.12. 3,087 3,087

Buildings

Value 1.1. 2,378 2,378

Value 31.12. 2,378 2,378

Shares

Value 1.1. 76 76

Value 31.12. 76 76

2.2 CURRENT ASSETS

2.2.1 Non-current receivables

Loan receivables 4,264 4,613

Deferred tax asset 1,755 3,279

6,019 7,891

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
2.2.2 Current receivables

Amounts owed by prties outside the Group

Accounts receivable 220 19

Other receivables 189 752

Prepayments and accrued income 669 1,116

1,079 1,887

Amounts owed by Group undertakings

Accounts receivable 9,902 2,076

Other receivables 339,141 317,669

Prepayments and accrued income 1,787 1,963

350,830 321,707

Current receivables, total 351,908 323,594

Items included in prepayments and accrued income

Interest receivables 249 590

Deferred personnel expenses 63

Deferred financial expenses 309 111

Others 48 415

669 1,116

2.3 SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 1.1. 34,043 34,043

Share capital 31.12. 34,043 34,043

Share premium account 1.1. 5,675 5,675

Share premium account 31.12. 5,675 5,675

Invested non-restricted equity fund 1.1. 60,997

Increases 60,997

Invested non-restricted equity fund 31.12. 60,997 60,997

Hedging reserve 1.1. –1,510

Increases 796 –2,040

Transfer to deferred tax liability –226 530

Hedging reserve 31.12. –940 –1,510
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EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Retained earnings 1.1. 92,792 75,124

Distribution of dividend –9,822

Transfer from revaluations reserve 82

Retained earnings 31.12. 82,970 75,206

Result for the financial year 13,184 17,587

Shareholders' equity, total 195,929 191,996

Distributable funds 31.12. 157,151 153,789

2.4 LIABILITIES

2.4.1 Deferred tax liability

From revaluations 1,441 1,441

From timing differences –83

1,358 1,441

2.4.2 Non-current liabilities

Loans from credit institutions 36,519 28,597

Pension loans 44,116 70,755

Bonds 59,763 60,000

Other non-current liabilities 246

140,398 159,598

2.4.3 Current liabilities

Loans from credit institutions 12,696 11,423

Pension loans 22,759 19,035

Commercial paper 119,910 75,100

Accounts payable 1,847 1,269

Accounts payable to Group undertakings 325 115

Other liabilities to Group undertakings 42,525 48,778

Other liabilities 3,195 4,991

Accruals and deferred income 7,200 4,152

210,456 164,864

EUR 1,000 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Items included in accruals and deferred income

Interests 1,543 1,184

Accrued personnel expenses 5,477 2,690

Others 180 278

7,200 4,152

2.5 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Pledges given on behalf of others

Securities pledged 90 90

90 90

Mortgages and pledges, total

Securities pledged 90 90

90 90

Guarantees given

On behalf of Group undertakings 334,574 254,915

On behalf of associated undertakings 20,337

On behalf of others 18,863 25,763

373,774 280,679

Leasing liabilities

Payable next year 6,938 4,678

Payable in subsequent years 26,354 24,794

33,292 29,472

Derivative contracts

Forward foreign exchange contracts

  Nominal value 81,577 48,902

  Fair value –283 –868

Interest rate swap contracts

  Nominal value 28,597 48,072

  Fair value –1,313 –2,193
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Financial indicators  
(IFRS)

EUR million 2011 2010 ¹) 2009 ¹) ²) ³) 2008 ¹) ³) 2007
Net sales 2,274.1 1,829.6 1,965.5 2,477.4 2,174.1

Exports and operations outside Finland 780.3 543.5 527.6 676.7 581.6

% net sales 34.3 29.7 26.8 27.3 26.8

Operating profit 53.5 29.6 23.2 117.6 127.2

% net sales 2.4 1.6 1.2 4.7 5.8

Result before taxes 34.6 7.6 –10.2 85.4 111.2

% net sales 1.5 0.4 –0.5 3.4 5.1

Result for the financial year 4) 34.7 0.3 –26.2 51.7 72.9

% net sales 1.5 0.0 –1.3 2.1 3.4

Non-current assets 5) 351.0 313.1 301.6 290.1 272.1

Inventories 5) 448.5 369.8 374.7 398.2 330.9

Financial assets 5) 437.7 352.3 375.2 722.1 465.9

Shareholders’ equity 4) 348.7 325.2 267.4 309.9 295.5

Non-controlling interest 1.7 5.1 23.2 27.8 23.7

Interest-bearing liabilities 431.6 375.5 399.1 586.5 357.0

Interest-free liabilities 5) 458.9 346.6 361.7 486.2 392.8

Balance sheet total 1,242.8 1,062.0 1,051.5 1,410.4 1,069.0

Return on equity, % 10.5 0.4 –7.6 18.1 27.5

Return on investment, % 10.8 7.0 5.5 17.0 20.7

Equity ratio, % 30.8 35.0 30.7 26.0 32.7

Gearing, % 114.5 105.7 111.7 99.6 87.2

Interest-bearing net liabilities 401.2 349.2 324.7 336.4 278.5

Gross investments 84.0 59.6 41.5 60.2 61.4

% net sales 3.7 3.3 2.1 2.4 2.8

Order book 31.12. 1,400.4 1,226.4 1,064.5 1,064.5 1,414.1

Average number of employees 8,421 8,314 8,626 9,776 9,201

1) 	T he figures include an adjustment made to receivables in 2011.
2) 	A s from 1 January 2010, Lemminkäinen observes the interpretation IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate in its Reporting.  

The comparative figures for 2009 have also been calculated in accordance with the interpretation.
3) 	T he figures include a liability noted in an additional report on a consortium.
4) 	A ttributable to the equity holders of the parent company.
5) 	T he figure includes assets held for sale or related liabilities. Non-current assets held for sale and related liabilities are presented in note 5.
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Share-related  
financial indicators (IFRS)

2011 2010 ¹) 2009 ¹) ²) ³) 2008 ¹) ³) 2007
Earnings per share (EPS), EUR 1.77 0.02 –1.54 3.04 4.29

Equity per share, EUR 17.75 16.55 15.71 18.21 17.36

Dividend per share, EUR 0.50 4) 0.50 0.00 0.90 1.80

Dividend to earnings ratio, % 28.3 over 100 0.0 29.6 42.0

Effective dividend yield, % 2.7 1.90 0.0 6.9 5.7

Price/earnings ratio (P/E) 10.6 1,664.4 –15.7 4.3 7.4

Share price, EUR

mean 22.86 24.73 21.38 27.40 44.88

lowest 17.08 21.21 13.30 12.53 31.03

highest 27.37 30.00 30.30 37.55 55.61

at end of financial year 18.72 26.00 24.20 13.05 31.50

Market capitalisation, EUR mill. 367.8 510.8 411.9 222.1 536.2

Shares traded, 1,000 3,367 4,172 1,918 3,185 5,204

% of total 17.1 21.8 11.3 18.7 30.6

Number of shares

average for the period, 1,000 19,645 19,124 17,021 17,021 17,021

at end of period, 1,000 19,645 19,645 17,021 17,021 17,021

1) 	T he figures include an adjustment made to receivables in 2011. 
2)	�A s from 1 January 2010 Lemminkäinen observes the interpretation IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate in its Reporting. 

The comparative figures for 2009 have also been calculated in accordance with the interpretation. 
3) 	T he figures include a liability noted in an additional report on a consortium.
4) 	 Board of Directors’ proposal to the AGM.
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Formulae for  
the financial indicators

RETURN ON INVESTMENT, %

Result before taxes + interest and other financial expenses
x 100

Balance sheet total (average) – interest-free liabilities (average)

RETURN ON EQUITY, %

Result for the financial period
x 100

Shareholder’s equity, total (average)

EQUITY RATIO, %

Shareholder’s equity, total
x 100

Balance sheet total – advances received

GEARING, %

Interest-bearing liabilities – cash and cash equivalents	
x 100

Shareholder’s equity, total

INTEREST-BEARING NET DEBT

Interest-bearing liabilities – cash and cash equivalents	

EMPLOYEES	

Sum of monthly employee headcount

Number of months in the financial period	

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Result for the financial period – non-controlling interest

Issue-adjusted number of shares (average)

EQUITY PER SHARE

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent company

Issue-adjusted number of shares at the end of the period

DIVIDEND PER SHARE

Dividend fot the financial period

Issue-adjusted number of shares at the end of the period

DIVIDEND TO EARNINGS RATIO, %

Dividend fot the financial period
x 100

Result for the financial period – non-controlling interest

EFFECTIVE DIVIDEND YIELD, %

Dividend per share
x 100

Issue-adjusted share price at the end of the period

P/E RATIO

Issue-adjusted share price at the end of the period

Earnings per share

ISSUE-ADJUSTED MEAN SHARE PRICE

Trading value or total share turnover in euros

Issue-adjusted number of shares traded during the period

MARKET CAPITALISATION

Number of shares x final share quotation	
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Board of directors’ proposal  
for the distribution of profit
Distributable shareholders’ equity shown on the parent company balance sheet at 
31 December 2011 amounts to EUR 157,151,029.90, consisting of retained earn-
ings EUR 82,969,836.31 and the profit for the financial year EUR 13,184,493.09. 

Helsinki, 8 February 2012

Juhani Mäkinen

Heikki Räty

Timo Kohtamäki
Managing Director

Berndt Brunow

Kristina Pentti-von Walzel

Mikael Mäkinen

Teppo Taberman

The board of directors will propose to the AMG that, for the financial year ended 31 
December 2011, the company a per-share dividend of EUR 0.50 to a total of EUR 
9,822,382.00, after which retained earnings would stand at EUR 86,331,947.40.
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Auditor’s Report* 

To the Annual General Meeting of  
Lemminkäinen Corporation
We have audited the accounting records, the finan-
cial statements, the report of the Board of Directors 
and the administration of Lemminkäinen Corpora-
tion for the year ended 31 December, 2011. The finan-
cial statements comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position, income statement, statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equi-
ty and statement of cash flows, and notes to the con-
solidated financial statements, as well as the parent 
company’s balance sheet, income statement, cash 
flow statement and notes to the financial statements.

Responsibility of the Board of  
Directors and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Direc-
tor are responsible for the preparation of consolidat-
ed financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU, as well as for 
the preparation of financial statements and the report 
of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with the laws and regulations governing 
the preparation of the financial statements and the 
report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The Board 
of Directors is responsible for the appropriate arrange-
ment of the control of the company’s accounts and fi-
nances, and the Managing Director shall see to it that 
the accounts of the company are in compliance with 
the law and that its financial affairs have been ar-
ranged in a reliable manner.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the finan-
cial statements, on the consolidated financial state-

ments and on the report of the Board of Directors based 
on our audit. The Auditing Act requires that we comply 
with the requirements of professional ethics. We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with good auditing prac-
tice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-
ance about whether the financial statements and the 
report of the Board of Directors are free from material 
misstatement, and whether the members of the Board 
of Directors of the parent company or the Managing Di-
rector are guilty of an act or negligence which may result 
in liability in damages towards the company or whether 
they have violated the Limited Liability Companies Act 
or the articles of association of the company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the audi-
tor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of financial statements and report of the 
Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in or-
der to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of ex-
pressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the com-
pany’s internal control. An audit also includes evalu-
ating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the over-
all presentation of the financial statements and the 
report of the Board of Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-
tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the financial position, fi-
nancial performance, and cash flows of the group in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

Opinion on the Company’s Financial 
Statements and the Report of the 
Board of Directors
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report 
of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view of 
both the consolidated and the parent company’s fi-
nancial performance and financial position in accord-
ance with the laws and regulations governing the 
preparation of the financial statements and the report 
of the Board of Directors in Finland. The information in 
the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with 
the information in the financial statements. 

Helsinki, 23 February 2012

PricewaterhouseCoopers Oy
Authorised Public Accountants

Kim Karhu
Authorised Public Accountant

*Translation from the Finnish original
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Shares and shareholders

Lemminkäinen’s share and share capital
The Company has one share class. Each share car-
ries one vote at a general meeting of shareholders and 
confers an equal right to a dividend. On 31 Decem-
ber 2011, the Company had 19,644,764 shares.  The 
Company’s share capital is EUR 34,042,500.

Share price and turnover
The price of Lemminkäinen’s share on the last trading 
day of 2011 was EUR 18.72 (26.00). The share price 
increased by 28 per cent during the report year. The 
highest share price quoted was EUR 27.37 in April and 
the lowest EUR 17.08 in August. The average price in 
2011 was EUR 22.86 (24.73). The year-end market 
capitalisation was EUR 367.8 million (510.8).

During 2011, share turnover on NASDAQ OMX Hel-
sinki Ltd totalled 3,366,940 shares (4,171,666) with 
a total share turnover value of EUR 77.0 million. Lem-
minkäinen has a Liquidity Providing (LP) agreement 
with Nordea Bank Finland Plc. According to the agree-
ment, Nordea Bank Finland Plc must quote both bid 
and offer prices for Lemminkäinen’s share such that 
the prices do not deviate from each other by more than 
4 per cent, calculated on the bid price. 

Shareholders
At the end of 2011, Lemminkäinen had 4,548 share-
holders (4,979). The Pentti family owned about 57 
per cent (57) of the company’s shares. About 15 per 
cent (8) of shares were in foreign ownership or regis-
tered in a nominee’s name. 

At the end of 2011, the members of the Group Ex-
ecutive Board and the Board of Directors held a total 
of 749,958 Lemminkäinen shares, representing 3.8 
per cent of the Company’s shares and the voting rights 

conferred by them. The holdings of Lemminkäinen’s 
public insiders are updated in real time on the Compa-
ny’s website at www.lemminkainen.com/investors. 

Flagging notifications
In September 2011, Lemminkäinen received a flagging 
notification stating that Peab AB’s holding in the com-
pany had exceeded 5 per cent. According to the noti-
fication, Peab AB (publ) held 1,140,225 Lemminkäin-
en shares on 13 September 2011, which corresponds 
to 5.80 per cent of Lemminkäinen’s shares and votes. 
Peab Invest AS, which is a fully-owned subsidiary of 
Peab AB (publ), also holds a forward contract for a fur-
ther 940,000 shares, which represents 4.78 per cent 
of Lemminkäinen’s shares and votes. Lemminkäinen is 
not aware of the due date for this contract.

In December 2011, Lemminkäinen received a flag-
ging notification announcing that the shares in Lem-
minkäinen belonging to the estate of Erkki Pentti had 
been divided between Anna Pentti and Heppu Pent-
ti. Following this, Anna Pentti and Heppu Pentti trans-
ferred their shares in Lemminkäinen to PNT Group Oy, 
of which they each own one half, as a contribution in 
kind. As a result, the shares held by Erkki Pentti’s es-
tate in Lemminkäinen decreased from 3,673,956 
shares and votes to zero, while PNT Group Oy’s shares 
in the Company rose by the corresponding amount.   

 

More information on shares and shareholders 
in the Board of Director’s report 2011 on pages 
92–93. 

Lemminkäinen’s share (LEM1S)

Listing:				    NASDAQ OMX Helsinki
Listing date: 				    1 June, 1995
Trading currency: 			   EUR
Segment: 				    Mid Cap
Sector: 				    Industrials
Trading code: 			   LEM1S
ISIN code: 				    FI0009900336
Reuters ID: 				    LEM1S.HE
Bloomberg ID: 			   LEM1S FH
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major shareholders, 31.12.2011

Name of shareholder number of shares % of total shares
PNT Group 3,673,956 18.70

Pentti Olavi 3,673,953 18.70

Estate of Heikki Pentti 1,906,976 9.71

Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 723,727 3.68

Pentti-Kortman Eva Katarina 635,660 3.24

Pentti-Von Walzel Anna Eva Kristina 635,660 3.24

Pentti Timo Kaarle Kristian 635,660 3.24

Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 432,687 2.20

Mandatum Life Insurance Company Limited 283,711 1.44

Maa- ja Vesitekniikan Tuki ry. 250,000 1.27

Etera Mutual Pension Insurance Company 204,310 1.04

Laakkonen Mikko Kalervo 154,601 0.79

ODIN Finland 151,934 0.77

Alfred Berg Mutual Fund 130,153 0.66

Nordea Pro Suomi Mutual Fund 108,563 0.55

15 largest in total 13,601,551 69.23

Nominee registered 2,853,105 14.50

Other shareholders 3,190,108 16.27

Total 19,644,764 100.00

shareholders by sector 31.12.2011

Number of  
shareholders

% of  
shareholders

Number of 
shares

% of  
shares

Foreign and nominee registered owners 25 0.55 2,853,105 14.5

Finnish private investors 4,117 90.52 9,599,953 48.9

Public sector institutions 10 0.22 1,460,839 7.4

Financial and insurance institutions 20 0.44 849,157 4.3

Corporations 306 6.73 4,317,312 22.0

Non-profit institutions 70 1.54 553,713 2.8

Common accounts 0 0 10,685 0.1

Total 4,548 100.0 19,644,764 100.0

shareholders by number of shares 31.12.2011

Number of  
shareholders

% of  
shareholders

Number of 
shares

% of  
shares

1–100 1,922 42.3 103,045 0.5

101–500 1,796 39.5 466,140 2.4

501–1,000 413 9.1 329,495 1.7

1,001–10,000 350 7.7 1,048,960 5.4

10,001–100,000 49 1.0 1,431,201 7.3

100,001–500,000 9 0.2 1,962,124 10.0

500,001– 9 0.2 14,293,114 72.8

Common accounts 0 0 10,685 0.1

Total 4,548 100.0 19,644,764 100.0
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Information for shareholders  
and investors
General Meeting
Lemminkäinen Corporation’s 2012 Annual Gener-
al Meeting will be held at 2 p.m on Monday, 2 April 
2012, at the High Tech Center, HTC Helsinki Auditori-
um, Tammasaarenkatu 1–5, Helsinki, Finland.

Each shareholder who is recorded on 21 March 
2012 in the Company’s shareholder register (main-
tained by Euroclear Finland Ltd) has the right to par-
ticipate in the General Meeting. A shareholder whose 
shares are registered in his/her personal Finnish book-
entry account is registered in the Company’s share-
holder register.

Registration
Shareholders must register for the AGM no later than 
4.00 p.m. on 28 March 2012 either:

–– online at www.lemminkainen.fi 
–– by email to pirjo.favorin@lemminkainen.fi
–– by phone +358 2071 53378
–– by mail to Lemminkäinen Corporation, Pirjo  

Favorin, P.O. Box 169, 00181 Helsinki, Finland

When registering, shareholders should provide their 
name, personal identification number, address and 
telephone number, as well as the name and personal 
identification number of any assistant. Notices of in-
tention to attend must be received before the regis-
tration deadline. Any instruments of proxy must also 
be submitted with the registration. The Notification 
of Annual General Meeting can be read in full on the 
Company’s website at www.lemminkainen.com.

Dividend policy
In accordance with Lemminkäinen’s dividend poli-
cy, the company seeks to pay its shareholders a div-
idend of at least 40 per cent of the profit for the fi-
nancial year. 

Payment of 2011 dividend
Lemminkäinen’s Board of Directors will propose to 
the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of EUR 
0.50 per share be paid for the 2011 financial year. 
Dividends will be paid to shareholders who are re-
corded in the shareholder register maintained by Eu-
roclear Ltd on the record date, 5 April 2012. The div-
idend payout date proposed by the Board of Directors 
is 16 April 2012.

Financial reporting 2012
9 Feb 2012 	 2011 Financial Statement Bulletin 
week 10	A nnual Report (pdf online)
week 13	A nnual Report (printed version)
3 May 2012 	I nterim Report, 1 Jan – 31 Mar 2012
2 Aug 2012 	I nterim Report, 1 Jan – 30 Jun 2012 
1 Nov 2012 	I nterim Report, 1 Jan – 30 Sep 2012 

Publication orders
The Company publishes its financial reports, 
stock exchange releases and press releases in 
both Finnish and English. All releases can be or-
dered directly to email at Lemminkäinen’s website,  
www.lemminkainen.com/investors. Printed copy of 
the Annual Report can be ordered at Lemminkäinen’s 
website or by emailing info@lemminkainen.fi.

Investor Relations
Lemminkäinen’s investor relations seek to support the 
correct valuation of the Company’s share by providing 
capital markets with current information on the Com-
pany’s business, strategy and financial position. The 
information must be objective and simultaneously 
disclosed to all market participants. The Company an-
swers questions from analysts and investors by phone 
and email, as well as by holding meetings with inves-
tors. Lemminkäinen refrains from contact with repre-

sentatives of the capital markets and financial media 
during the three-week period prior to the publication 
of the financial statements and interim reports.

Investment research
According to the information available to the Com-
pany, analysts in the service of at least the follow-
ing banks and brokerage firms have made invest-
ment analyses of Lemminkäinen: Carnegie Securities,  
Evli Bank, E. Öhman J:or Securities Finland, FIM Bank,  
Inderes Oy, Pohjola Bank, SEB Enskilda, Swedbank 
and Ålandsbanken. Contact information for these 
analysts is provided on Lemminkäinen’s website at 
www.lemminkainen.com/investors. 

Contact information
Lemminkäinen Corporation
Investor Relations
P.O. Box 169, 00180 Helsinki, Finland
investor@lemminkainen.fi

Katri Sundström
Vice President, Investor Relations
Tel. +358 2071 54813 / +358 400 976 333
katri.sundstrom@lemminkainen.fi
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